
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, AUGUST 21, 2023 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of August 7, 2023. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed conveyance of certain vacated city right-of-way along Hudson Road. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 08/12/2023) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving the conveyance and authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying 
certain vacated city right-of-way along Hudson Road to David and Tamara Nicol. 

3. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to parking requirements for institutional uses in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 08/12/2023) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to parking 
requirements for institutional uses in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), upon its first 
consideration. (requires 5 aye votes) 

1



Page 2 of 3 

Old Business 

4. Pass Ordinance #3036, amending Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
political signs, upon its third & final consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #3037, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
salaries for elected officials, upon its third & final consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3038, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to establishing temporary long-term daily permits for municipal parking lots or 
facilities, upon its second consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #3039, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Dakota Street, upon its second 
consideration. 
 
OR 
 
Suspend the rules requiring ordinances to be considered at three separate meetings (requires at 
least six aye votes), and pass the ordinance upon its third & final consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #3040, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to establishing a 4-way stop at the intersection of Center Street & Lone Tree 
Road, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

9. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of August 7, 2023 relative to the 
following items: 
a) Retiring/Expiring TIF Districts and Process of Releasing Funds. 
b) Pedestrian Crosswalks on University Avenue, Center Street & 12th Street. 

10. Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to the certified list for 
the position of Traffic Technician. 

11. Receive and file Personnel Policies for the City of Cedar Falls that have been reformatted to the new 
standard policy format. 

12. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Whiskey Road Tavern & Grill, 402 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
b) B & B West, 3105 Hudson Road, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
c) Panther Travel Center, 1525 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
d) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 
temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (September 2-3, 2023) 
e) Metro Mart, 103 Franklin Street, Class E retail alcohol - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

13. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

14. Resolution calling for a public referendum to authorize the imposition of a local sales and services 
tax in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, at the rate of one percent (1%), to be effective on January 1, 
2026. 

15. Resolution approving and adopting the rate of $3.89 per $1,000 taxable value for the Downtown 
Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) for FY2025. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Termination of Agreement for Private 
Development, and approving and accepting a Warranty Deed, relative to an Agreement for Private 
Development with Wayne Estates, LLC. 

17. Resolution approving and accepting Diamond Arts & History grant funding from the Cedar Falls 
Community Foundation relative to developing an Art & Culture Mobile Tour project. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Change Order relative to a Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) Rental Rehabilitation Project at 1009 West 3rd Street. 

19. Resolution approving the preliminary plat of Ashworth North Subdivision. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of an application to the Iowa Department of 
Homeland Security and Emergency Management (IDHSEM) for hazard mitigation relative to 
purchasing repetitive loss (RL) and severe repetitive loss (SRL) properties in northern Cedar Falls. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Amendment Number Four to the Subaward 
Agreement with the Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management (IDHSEM) 
for an extension of the Voluntary Property Acquisition Program funded through the Hazard Mitigation 
Grant Program relative to the Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program. 

22. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Owen Contracting, Inc. 
for the 2022 Alley Reconstruction Project, and approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from 
Storm Water Bond Fund to the Street Construction Fund. 

23. Resolution receiving and filing, and approving and accepting the bid of Boulder Contracting, LLC, in 
the amount of $74,473.50, being the only bid received for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project – 
Zone 1. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Cooperative Agreement for Construction 
Projects with Black Hawk County relative to the West Viking Road Reconstruction Project.  

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Unite Private Networks 
relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system within the public right-of-way along 
Technology Parkway. 

26. Resolution setting September 5, 2023 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into an 
Agreement for Private Development, and to consider conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to 
Cedar Falls Partners, LLC. 

Ordinances 

27. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
establishing a Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

28. Allow Bills and Claims for August 21, 2023. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Executive Session 

29. Executive Session to discuss Legal Matters per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(c) to discuss strategy 
with counsel in matters that are presently in litigation or where litigation is imminent where its 
disclosure would be likely to prejudice or disadvantage the position of the governmental body in that 
litigation. 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AUGUST 7, 2023 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Green led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

54387 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Schultz that the minutes of the 
Regular Meeting of July 17, 2023 be approved as presented and ordered of 
record. Motion carried unanimously. 

    
54388 - Michael Blackwell, Cedar Falls, referenced the 24/7 Wall Street Journal Report 

regarding the worst cities for Black Americans to live and expressed his concerns 
and hopefulness for the future. 

 
54389 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of July 22, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed revised 
plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2023 Sidewalk 
Assessment Project - Zone 1. It was then moved by Schultz and seconded by 
Harding that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed 
on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54390 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided a 
summary of the proposed project. There being no one else present wishing to 
speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and 
passed to the next order of business. 

 
54391 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,259, 

approving and adopting the revised plans, specifications, form of contract & 
estimate of cost for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 1, be adopted. 
Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Ganfield, Schultz, 
Harding and Kruse, and responses by City Engineer Wicke and City 
Administrator Gaines, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of 
the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #23,259 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54392 - Mayor Green announced the continuation of a public hearing to consider entering 

into an Agreement for Private Development, and to consider conveyance of 
certain city-owned real estate to Ryan Companies US, Inc.  Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a brief summary of the agreement. 
There being no one else present wishing to speak about the agreement and 
conveyance, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

of business. 
 
54393 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn that Resolution #23,260, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development, 
and approving and authorizing execution of a Deed Without Warranty conveying 
certain city-owned real estate to Ryan Companies US, Inc, be adopted. Following 
questions by Councilmembers Ganfield and Harding, and responses by 
Economic Development Coordinator Graham and City Attorney Rogers, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,260 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54394 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3031, 

amending the Zoning Map by removing approximately 2.26 acres of property 
located at 702 LeClair Street from the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and 
placing the same in the PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District, be passed 
upon its third and final consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3031 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54395 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Schultz that Resolution #23,261, 

approving and authorizing execution of a PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning 
District Developmental Procedures Agreement with Randy W. Howe Revocable 
Trust, and approving a PC-2, Planned Commercial Master Plan relative to 
construction of a warehouse/storage building, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn.  Nay: None. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,261 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54396 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3032, 

amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to allowance of 
vinyl siding on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the 
Neighborhood Frontages within the CD-DT, Downtown Character District, be 
passed upon its third and final consideration. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Ganfield, 
Sires. Nay: Harding, Dunn. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3032 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54397 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3034, 

amending Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to removal of snow and ice, be passed upon its third and final consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance #3034 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54398 -    It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3035, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Bluebell Road, be passed 
upon its third and final consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3035 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54399 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3036, 

amending Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances relative to political 
signs, be passed upon its second consideration. Following due consideration by 
the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54400 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3037, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
salaries for elected officials, be passed upon its second consideration. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Dunn. Nay: deBuhr, Sires. Motion carried. 

 
54401 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

 Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of July 17, 2023 
relative to the following items: 
a) Grow Cedar Valley Update. 
b) Parking Permits for Downtown Residents. 
c) City Council Emails on City Website. 
d) Request for 4-Way Stop at the Lone Tree and Center Street Intersection.         

 Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of June 2023. 

 Approve a request for a temporary sign/banner to be located on city-owned 
property at 205 West 1st Street for 60 days. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Special Class B retail native wine – 
renewal. 
b) Amigo, 5809 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
c) The Pump Haus Pub & Grill, 311 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
d) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

e) Live to 9, 200 Block of State Street and 100 Block of East 2nd Street including 
adjacent sidewalks, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 5-day 
permit. 
f) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway, Class B retail alcohol - new. 

 Motion carried unanimously.   

54402 -  It was moved by Schultz and seconded by Harding to approve the following 
recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to Boards 
and Commissions: 

    a) Nick Evens, Utilities Board of Trustees, term ending 08/31/2027. 
b) Sandy Thomas, Visitors & Tourism Board, term ending 07/01/2026. 

 
  Following comments by Mr. Evens and Councilmembers Harding and Schultz, 

the motion carried unanimously. 
 
54403 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the following resolutions 

be introduced and adopted: 
 

 Resolution #23,262, approving and authorizing execution of Memorandum of 
Understanding with the Iowa Department of Revenue relative to participation in 
the State Setoff Program. 

 Resolution #23,263, approving and authorizing execution of a Master Services 
Agreement with CivicPlus relative to content management software for the City's 
web site. 

 Resolution #23,264, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
ByWater Solutions relative to an Integrated Library System (ILS) for the Waterloo 
and Cedar Falls Public Libraries. 

 Resolution #23,265, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
Tree Town Consultants, LLC for the purchase and training of a dual-purpose 
police dog. 

 Resolution #23,266, approving and authorizing execution of a First Amendment 
to the Wellness Program Services Agreement with TMA @ Your Service, LLC, 
d/b/a “Wellworks For You” relative to a platform for the City’s employee wellness 
program. 

 Resolution #23,267, approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real 
Estate and Acceptance for 8,000 square feet of city-owned property adjacent to 
6317 Development Drive within the West Viking Road Industrial Park. 

 Resolution #23,268, approving and authorizing execution of an Owner-Occupied 
Rehabilitation Contract with Daniels Home Improvement relative to a Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) housing rehabilitation project. 

 Resolution #23,269, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

and technical services related to Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 
Funding Project Delivery for FY2024 (Federal Fiscal Year 2023). 

 Resolution #23,270, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for technical 
services related to Home Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) Funding 
Project Delivery for FY2024 (Federal Fiscal Year 2023). 

 Resolution #23,271, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a pickup truck for the Parks Section. 

 Resolution #23,272, approving and authorizing submission of an Application for 
Site-Specific Traffic Safety Improvement Program (TSIP) funding to the Iowa 
Department of Transportation (IDOT) relative to the Prairie Parkway and Viking 
Road Intersection Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,273, approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement 
with Windstream Intellectual Property Services, LLC relative to installing a fiber 
optic telecommunications system within the public right-of-way along Leversee 
Road. 

 Resolution #23,274, approving the Certificate of Completion for the 2021 Public 
Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project. 

 Resolution #23,275, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 2021 Street Construction Project, and 
approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the Street Construction 
Fund, GO 2022, Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund and Golf Improvement Fund to the 
Street Repair Fund (LOST). 

 Resolution #23,276, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 2022 Street Construction Project, and 
approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the Street Construction 
Fund, GO 2022, Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund and Golf Improvement Fund to the 
Street Repair Fund (LOST). 

 Resolution #23,277, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Benton’s Sand & Gravel, Inc. for the Clay Street Park Water Quality 
Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,278, setting August 21, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed conveyance of certain vacated city right-of-way along Hudson Road. 

 Resolution #23,279, setting August 21, 2023 as the date of public hearing on 
proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to parking requirements for institutional uses in the Downtown Character District 
(CD-DT). 

  Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,262 through #23,279 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54404 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3038, 
amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to establishing temporary long-term daily permits for municipal parking 
lots or facilities, be passed upon its first consideration. Following questions by 
Councilmember deBuhr, and responses by Administrative & Parking Supervisor 
Breitbach, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: deBuhr. Motion carried. 

 
54405 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3039, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Dakota Street, be passed 
upon its first consideration. Following questions by Councilmembers deBuhr and 
Schultz, responses by City Engineer Wicke and Administrative & Parking 
Supervisor Breitbach, and additional comments by Dr. William Henninger, UNI, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Sires, Dunn. Nay: 
deBuhr, Ganfield. Motion carried. 

 
54406 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Schultz that Ordinance #3040, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to establishing a 4-way stop at the intersection of Center Street & Lone 
Tree Road, be passed upon its first consideration. Following comments by 
Councilmember Kruse, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield to 
postpone consideration to the October 2, 2023 City Council meeting to allow 
completion of a pedestrian study. Following questions and comments by 
Councilmembers deBuhr, Schultz, Dunn, Kruse, Harding and Ganfield, Mayor 
Green, and Cedar Falls residents Amy Jardon, Jim Newcomb and Mark Suchy, 
and responses by Public Works Director Schrage and City Administrator Gaines, 
it was moved by Schultz to call the question. Motion to call the question carried 
unanimously. The motion to postpone failed 2-5, with Schultz, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires and Dunn voting Nay. Following additional comments and questions by 
Councilmembers Harding, deBuhr, Schultz and Kruse, and Amy Jardon, 
responses by Schrage, City Attorney Rogers and Community Development 
Director Sheetz, and closing comments by Mayor Green, the Mayor put the 
question on the original motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: 
deBuhr, Kruse. Motion carried. 

 
54407 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that the bills and claims of 

August 7, 2023 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

 
54408 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Schultz to adjourn to Executive Session 

to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could 
be reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental body would have 
to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental body would receive 
for that property; and to discuss the City Administrator’s performance pursuant to 
Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(i) and City Code Section 2-217. Upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn.  Nay: None.  Motion carried. 

 
     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:25 P.M. 
 
     Mayor Green reconvened the Council meeting at 10:14 P.M.   
   
54409 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Sires that the meeting be adjourned at 

10:15 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  ________________________________ 
                                                                  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

10

Item 1.



  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, Planner III 

 DATE: August 21, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Public Hearing to consider offers to purchase and to convey vacated right-of-way 
along Hudson Road 

 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Consideration of offer(s) to purchase and to convey vacated portion of 
Hudson Road (Case #VAC23-001) 
 

LOCATION: 
 

1,728 sq. ft. of public property located on the west side of Hudson Road 
approximately 200 feet north of the intersection of Ashworth Drive.  
 

 

PROPOSAL 
David A. Nicol has requested a vacation of 1,728 sq. ft. of the public right-of-way located on the 
west side of Hudson Road approximately 200 feet north of the Ashworth Drive intersection 
Council held a public hearing on May 15 on an ordinance to vacate the subject right-of-way and 
on June 20, the Council adopted said ordinance.  The City notified persons who were to be 
given preference to purchase the vacated right-of-way according to the provisions of Section 
306.23, Iowa Code.  An offer to purchase the vacated ROW along with certified checks made 
payable to the City of Cedar Falls for the fair market value of $7,000 were received from Mike 
Nicols. Fair market value was determined by independent appraisal with reductions for 

easements retained.    
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends approval of a resolution to convey the vacated real estate, subject to 
establishment of a perpetual utility easement and further subject to existing easements of 
record, all as shown on the attached vacation plat, to David Nicols for the fair market value of 
$7,000 and to authorize the Mayor and the City Clerk to execute a Quit Claim Deed for the 
described real estate and to deliver said Quit Claim Deed to the Grantee.  
 
 
Attachments: Resolution to Convey Vacated ROW and execute a Quit Claim Deed 
  Right of Way Vacation Plat  

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

     VISITORS & TOURISM/  

PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES INSPECTION SERVICES RECREATION & COMMUNITY PROGRAMS CULTURAL PROGRAMS 

220 CLAY STREET 220 CLAY STREET  110 E. 13TH
 STREET  6510 HUDSON ROAD 

PH: 319-273-8606 PH: 319-268-5161 PH: 319-273-8636 PH: 319-268-4266 

FAX: 319-273-8610 FAX: 319-268-5197 FAX: 319-273-8656 FAX: 319-277-9707 

 

11

Item 2.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by:  Thomas Weintraut, Planning III, 220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, IA 50613  (319) 273-8600 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ____________________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A QUIT CLAIM DEED 
CONVEYING VACATED RIGHT-OF-WAY ALONG HUDSON ROAD IN CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 
SUBJECT TO RESERVATION OF A PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT OVER SAID RIGHT-OF-
WAY 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on May 15, 2023, regarding an 
ordinance to vacate a portion of Hudson Road right-of-way, as legally described below, retaining 
perpetual easements, with the intent to make this land available for sale and conveyance 
according to State law; and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 20, 2023, the City Council adopted an ordinance vacating the 

aforementioned portion of right-of-way along Hudson Road, retaining a perpetual public utility 
easement over said vacated right-of-way; and 

 
WHEREAS, an offer to purchase the vacated right-of-way, attached hereto, along with a 

certified check made payable to the City of Cedar Falls for the fair market value of $7,000.00 were 
received from David A. and Tamara M. Nicol, husband and wife, on July 7, 2023, with fair market 
value being determined by independent appraisal by Rally Appraisal, LLC dated February 10, 
2023, that took into account the easement retained; and 

 
 WHEREAS, David A. and Tamara M. Nicol, being current owners of land adjacent to said 

vacated right-of-way, are entitled to preference as to any bid made equaling or exceeding the fair 
market value of the vacated right-of-way under Iowa Code § 306.23; and 

 
WHEREAS, no other bids were received within the statutory 60-day period for receiving 

bids after certified mail notice of vacation was provided by the City to owners of land adjacent to 
the vacated right-of-way at the time the right-of-way was acquired by the City and also to current 
owners of land adjacent to the vacated right-of-way.  
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, that the real estate described below is hereby conveyed, subject to establishment of a 
perpetual public utility easement over said real estate and further subject to existing easements 
of record, all as shown on the vacation plat attached hereto, and incorporated herein; and   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to 

execute a Quit Claim Deed for said described real estate accordingly to David A. and Tamara M. 
Nicol, 3019 Lovejoy Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, and to deliver said Quit Claim Deed to said 
Grantees, and to do any other things and to execute any other documents as may be necessary 
to convey such real estate. 

12

Item 2.



 
  

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section No. 26, 
Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, City of Cedar 
Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa, described as follows: 
 
Beginning at the Southeast corner of Lot 13 of Prairie Winds 4TH Addition in the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa which is on the present West right-of-way line of Hudson 
Road; thence North 89°16’12” East along the East prolongation of the South line 
of said Prairie Winds 4th Addition, 21.73 feet; thence South 00°30’40” East, 80.20 
feet to the present West right-of-way of Hudson Road, 21.55 feet: thence North 
00°38’32” West along the present West right-of-way line of Hudson Road, 80.20 
feet to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Contains 1,735 Square Feet or 0.04 Acre 

 
ADOPTED this 21st day of August 2023. 
 
 
 
 ______________________________________ 
 Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:   ______________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

13

Item 2.



   

            

   

            

     

                      

           

      

      

Prairie Winds 4th Addition

L
O

T
 
1
7

L
O

T
 
1
4

LOT 13

2649.70'

N 00°42'50" W

L
O

T
 
1
8

C

CC

D

D

N 89°16'12" E  566.83' - 567' R

Document 202200025092

Parcel "C"

Per Misc. Bk. 333, Page 311

Rebar in Monument Box

26-89-14W Fnd. 1/2"

SE Cor. NW 1/4 of Sec.

Page 673

Misc. Bk. 336,

Monument Box Per

No. 2697 in

1/2" Rebar w/YC

Sec. 26-89-14W Fnd.

NE Cor. NW 1/4 of

5
5
3
,

P
a
g
e
 
5
2
8
-
5
2
9

R
.

O
.

W
.
 

L
D
 

B
k
.

Sheet 1 of 2

Sheets 1 and 2 of 2

Sheet 1 of 2

0

Scale in Feet

Sheet 1 of 2

Date of Survey 6-08-2021

R
e
s
e
r
v
e
d
 
f
o
r
 

C
o
u
n
t
y
 

R
e
c
o
r
d
e
r
's
 

U
s
e

   under the laws of the State of Iowa.    

   that I am a duly Licensed Land Surveyor

   my direct personal supervision and

   document was prepared by me or under

   I hereby certify that this Land Surveying 

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

                                  Date

My license renewal date is December 31,2024

8505License number

 

 

IIIIII
III
III
II
II
II
II

II
II
II
II
II
II
II
I
I
I
II
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
II
II
I
II
II
II
II
II
II

II
II
II
III
III
IIIII

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
I
I
I
II
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
III

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

8505

IOW A

L
IC

E
N
S

ED
 LAND SU

R
V
E
Y

O
R

MICHAEL R. FAGLE          

MICHAEL R.

FAGLE

R = Record Dimension    

D = Found 1/2" Rebar OPC No. 17162

C = Found 1/2" Rebar YPC No. 2697

Legend

40 80 120 160

4th Addition

Prairie Winds

South Line

1

2

3

4

P.O.B.

21.55' - 21.5' R

S 89°17'15" W

Hudson Road

R-O-W Line

Present WestS
e
c
.
 
2
6
-
T
8
9

N
-
R
1
4

W

S
E
 
1
/
4
 

N
W
 
1
/
4

City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa

Section 26, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M.

Part of the  Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4

Right-of-Way Vacation Plat

Date Revised 7-07-2023

7-07-2023

Outlot A

Vacation

Right-of-Way

Contains 1735 S.F. or 0.04 Acre

Outlot A

Right-of-Way Vacation

14

Item 2.

FagleM
Image



           

           

           
           
           

Sheet 2 of 2

City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa

Section 26, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M.

Part of the  Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4

Right-of-Way Vacation Plat

15

Item 2.



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPRAISAL REPORT 
 

OF 
 

+/- 1,734 Square Feet of Unused Right-of-Way 
 

Hudson Road 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
File # C23B2WH07 

 
PREPARED FOR: 

 
Dave Nicol 

 
AS OF: 

 
February 10, 2023, As Is, Fee Simple Interest 

 
RALLY APPRAISAL, LLC 

 
JAMES A. HERINK 

CERTIFIED GENERAL REAL PROPERTY APPRAISER 
 

209 FRANKLIN STREET, SUITE A-3 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

PHONE: (319) 266-9373 
www.rallyappraisal.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16

Item 2.



2 
 

                                                                          (Intentionally Left Blank) 
 
 
 
 
 

17

Item 2.



 

3 
 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C. 
Cedar Falls Office • 209 Franklin Street, Suite A-3 • Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
Clint Cota, SRA -- Office Manager                             Phone: (319) 266-9373 
Jim Herink -- Senior Appraiser                          www.rallyappraisal.com 
Adam Horan      
David D. Passmore, MAI – Commercial Manager 
Ryan Meyers 
Jon Wienhold 
 

March 2, 2023 
 
Dave Nicol 
 
RE: +/- 1,734 Square Feet of Unused Right-of-Way, Hudson Road, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
Dear Client: 
 
As requested, I have personally inspected and appraised the unused right-of-way referenced 
above. The purpose of this appraisal report is to conclude an opinion of the As Is, fee simple 
market value of the subject as of the inspection, on February 10, 2023. The intended use of 
this appraisal is for client to determine the subject’s fair market value and the intended user is 
Dave Nicol. This appraisal is not intended for any other use or for use by others.  
 
The subject is a tract of unused right-of-way that is assumed to contain 1,734 square feet. It 
is located in a residential area of Cedar Falls along a north / south arterial. It is not within a 
specific zoning district since it is a city-owned right-of-way. The owner of the adjacent 
property, who is also the client, is in the process of re-zoning the adjacent property to R-1, 
One and Two-Unit Residential. Therefore, the value estimate herein is based on the 
extraordinary assumption that the site is zoned R-1, One and Two Unit Residential, which is 
the zoning district of the majority of the nearby properties.  
 
This appraisal report is intended to comply with the reporting requirements set forth under 
Standards Rule 2-2(a) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.  As such, it 
may only present summary discussions of the data, reasoning, and analyses that were used in 
the appraisal process to develop the opinion of value.  Additional supporting documentation 
concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses may be retained in file. 
 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 

 The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 
 The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 

assumptions and limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased 
professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

 I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this 
report and no personal interest with respect to the parties involved.  

 I have performed no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding 
the property that is the subject of this report within the three-year period 
immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment.   

 I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the 
parties involved with this assignment. 

18

Item 2.



 

4 
 

 My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or 
reporting predetermined results. 

 My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the 
development or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors 
the cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a 
stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the 
intended use of this appraisal.  

 My analysis, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice and FIRREA. 

 Mr. James Herink made a personal inspection of the property. 
 No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing 

this certification.  
 I have performed within the context of the competency provision of the Uniform 

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 
 The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report 

has been prepared, in conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics and 
Standards of Professional Practice of the Appraisal Institute.  

 The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute 
relating to review by its duly authorized representatives. 

 
The estimated As Is market value of the fee simple interest in subject property as of February 
10, 2023 is as follows: 
 

SEVEN THOUSAND DOLLARS  
$7,000, As Is 

 
This transmittal letter and certification of appraisal precede the appraisal report, further 
describing the subject property and containing the reasoning and pertinent data leading to the 
opinion of value.  Your attention is directed to the “General Underlying Assumptions” and 
“Limiting Conditions”, which are considered usual for this type assignment and have been 
included at the beginning of the report. 
 
Please contact us if you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
James Herink  
Certified General Real Property Appraiser, CG02627 
 
 
 
 

19

Item 2.



 

5 
 

GENERAL UNDERLYING ASSUMPTIONS 
Legal Matters: 
The legal description used in this report is assumed to be correct, but it may not necessarily 
have been confirmed by survey.  No responsibility is assumed in connection with a survey or for 
encroachments or overlapping or other discrepancies that might be revealed thereby.  Any 
sketches included in the report are only for the purpose of aiding the reader in visualizing the 
property and are not necessarily a result of a survey.   
 
No responsibility is assumed for an opinion of legal nature, such as to ownership of the property 
or condition of title.   
 
The appraisers assume the title to the property to be marketable; that, unless stated to the 
contrary, the property is appraised as an unencumbered fee which is not used in violation of 
acceptable ordinances, statutes or other governmental regulations.   
 
Confidential Information - information that is either: identified by the client as confidential 
when providing it to an appraiser and that is not available from any other source; or classified 
as confidential or private by applicable law or regulation*.  *NOTICE: For example, pursuant 
to the passage of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act in November 1999, some public agencies 
have adopted privacy regulations that affect appraisers.  As a result, the Federal Trade 
Commission issued a rule focused on the protection of "non-public personal information" 
provided by consumers to those involved in financial activities "found to be closely related to 
banking or usual in connection with the transaction of banking."  These activities have been 
deemed to include "appraising real or personal property."  (Quotations are from the Federal 
Trade Commission, Privacy of Consumer Financial Information; Final Rule, 16 CFR Part 313) 
 
Unapparent Conditions: 
The appraisers assume that there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, 
subsoil or structures which would render it more or less valuable than otherwise comparable 
property.  The appraisers are not experts in determining the presence or absence of hazardous 
substance, defined as all hazardous or toxic materials, waste, pollutants or contaminants 
(including, but not limited to, asbestos, PCB, UFFI, or other raw materials or chemicals) used in 
construction or otherwise present on the property.   
 
The appraisers assume no responsibility for any engineering studies or analysis which would be 
required to conclude or discover the presence or absence of such substances or for loss as a 
result of the presence of such substances, or for unapparent conditions.  The client is urged to 
retain an expert in this field, if desired.  The value estimate is based on the assumption that the 
subject property is not so affected. 
 
Information and Data: 
Information and opinions furnished to the appraisers and contained in the report were obtained 
from sources considered reliable and believed to be true and correct.  However, no warranty is 
given for the accuracy of such items furnished the appraisers.  
 
All mortgages, liens, encumbrances, and servitudes have been disregarded unless so specified 
within the appraisal report.  The subject property is appraised as though under responsible 
ownership and competent management.   
  

20

Item 2.



 

6 
 

Zoning and Licenses: 
It is assumed that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been complied 
with, unless a nonconforming use has been stated, defined and considered in the valuation.   
 
It is assumed that the subject property complies with all applicable federal, state and local 
environmental regulations and laws unless noncompliance is stated, defined and considered in 
the valuation.   
 
It is assumed that the information relating to the location of or existence of public utilities that 
has been obtained through a verbal inquiry from the appropriate utility authority, or has been 
ascertained from visual evidence is correct.  No warranty has been made regarding the exact 
location or capacities of public utility systems. 
 
It is assumed that all licenses, consents or other legislative or administrative authority from local, 
state or national governmental or private entity or organization have been, or can be, obtained 
or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in the valuation report is based.   
 
The appraisers will not be required to give testimony or appear in court due to preparing the 
appraisal with reference to the subject property in question, unless prior arrangements have 
been made.  
 
Possession of the report does not carry with it the right of publication.  Out-of-context quoting 
from or partial reprinting of this appraisal report is not authorized.  Further, neither all nor any 
part of this appraisal report shall be disseminated to the general public by the use of media for 
public communication without the prior written consent of the appraisers signing this appraisal 
report.   
 
Disclosure of the contents of this report is governed by the By-Laws and Regulations of the 
Appraisal Institute.  Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report shall be conveyed to 
any person or entity, other than the appraiser’s client, through advertising, solicitation materials, 
public relations, news, sales, or any other media without the written consent and approval of the 
author, particularly as to valuation conclusions, the identity of the appraiser with which they are 
connected, or any reference to the Appraisal Institute or to the MAI designation.  Further, the 
appraiser assumes no obligation, liability, or accountability to any third party.  If this report is 
placed in the hands of anyone but the client, client shall make such party aware of all the 
assumptions and limiting conditions of the assignment. 
 
The distribution of the total valuation in this report, between land and improvements, is 
applicable only as a part of the whole property.  The land value, or the separate value of the 
improvements, must not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal or estimate and is 
invalid if so used.   
 
No environmental or concurrency impact studies were either requested or made in conjunction 
with this appraisal report.  The appraisers, thereby, reserve the right to alter, amend, revise, or 
rescind any of the value opinions based upon any subsequent environmental or concurrency 
impact studies, research or investigation. 
  

21

Item 2.



 

7 
 

 
The Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA") became effective January 26, 1992.  The 
appraisers have not made a specific compliance survey and analysis of this property to 
determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various detailed requirements of the ADA.  It 
is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed analysis of the 
requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of 
the requirements of the Act.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the 
property.  Since the appraisers have no direct evidence relating to this issue, possible 
noncompliance with the requirements of ADA in estimating the value of the property has not 
been considered. 
 
An appraisal related to an estate in land that is less than the whole fee simple estate applies only 
to the fractional interest involved.  The value of this fractional interest plus the value of all other 
fractional interests may or may not equal the value of the entire fee simple estate considered as 
a whole.   
 
The appraisal report related to a geographical portion of a larger parcel is applied only to such 
geographical portion and should not be considered as applying with equal validity to other 
portions of the larger parcel or tract.  The value for such geographical portions plus the value of 
all other geographical portions may or may not equal the value of the entire parcel or tract 
considered as an entity.   
 
The appraisal is subject to any proposed improvements or additions being completed as set 
forth in the plans, specifications, and representations referred to in the report, and all work being 
performed in a good and workmanlike manner.  The appraisal is further subject to the proposed 
improvements or additions being constructed in accordance with the regulations of the local, 
county, and state authorities. The plans, specifications, and representations referred to are an 
integral part of the appraisal report when new construction or new additions, renovations, 
refurbishing, or remodeling applies. 
 
If this appraisal is used for mortgage loan purposes, the appraisers invite attention to the fact 
that (1) the equity cash requirements of the sponsor have not been analyzed, (2) the loan 
ratio has not been suggested, and (3) the amortization method and term have not been 
suggested.   
 
The function of this report is not for use in conjunction with a syndication of real property.  This 
report cannot be used for said purposes and, therefore, any use of this report relating to 
syndication activities is strictly prohibited and unauthorized.  If such an unauthorized use of this 
report takes place, it is understood and agreed that Rally Appraisal, LLC has no liability to the 
client and/or third parties. 
 
Acceptance of and/or use of this appraisal report constitutes acceptance of the foregoing 
General Underlying Assumptions and General Limiting Conditions.  The appraisers' duties, 
pursuant to the employment to make the appraisal, are complete upon delivery and acceptance 
of the appraisal report.  However, any corrections or errors should be called to the attention of 
the appraisers within 60 days of the delivery of the report. 
 
This report is intended for use only by the identified client and identified other known intended 
users stated within the cover letter.  Use of this report by others is not intended by the appraiser. 
  

22

Item 2.



 

8 
 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

PREFACE: 
TITLE PAGE 

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 
CERTIFICATION OF VALUE 

 
 
 
 
Salient Data………………….……………………………………………………………………14 
 
Definition of Market Value……………………………………………………………………….17 
 
Identification of Property.…………………………………………………………………......... 22 
 
Highest and Best Use…………………………………………………………………………….38 
 
Valuation Methodology………….………………………………………………………………..39 
 
Cost Approach.....................................................................................................................40 
 
Direct Sales Comparison Approach………………………………………………………….... 41 
 
Income Approach……………………………………………………………………………….... 47 
 
Reconciliation & Final Value Conclusion………………………………………………………. 48 
 
Addenda Items…………………………………………………………………………………… 49 

 
 
 

23

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -9- 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 

 
 
 
 

24

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -10- 

 

SUBJECT PHOTOS 

 
SUBJECT LOOKING WEST 

 
HUDSON ROAD LOOKING NORTH 

 
 

25

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -11- 

 

 
HUDSON ROAD LOOKING SOUTH 

 
  

26

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -12- 

 
AERIAL PHOTO (ESTIMATE ONLY) 

 

 
 

  

27

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -13- 

 
 

SITE AREA PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT 
 

 
 
 

  

28

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -14- 

 

SUMMARY OF SALIENT DATA 
 

PROPERTY TYPE:  Unused right-of-way 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 
West side of Hudson Road, just north of Ashworth 
Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

OWNER: City of Cedar Falls 

DATE OF VALUATION: February 10, 2023 

DATE OF REPORT: March 2, 2023 

PROPERTY RIGHTS APPRAISED: Fee Simple Interest, As Is 

SITE DATA: 1,734 Square Feet 

IMPROVEMENT DATA: None 

ZONING: R-1, One & Two Unit Residential 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE: Residential 

VALUE INDICATIONS: 

COST APPROACH: Not Developed 

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH: $7,000, As Is 

INCOME APPROACH: Not Developed 

FINAL VALUE ESTIMATE: $7,000, As Is 

 
 

  

29

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -15- 

 
SCOPE OF REPORT 
 
Intended use, user, and effective date of value: 
 
The scope of the appraisal is the type and extent of research and analysis in an appraisal or 
appraisal review assignment. It encompasses the necessary research and analysis to 
prepare a report in accordance with the intended use, the Standards of Professional Practice 
of the Appraisal Institute, and the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
Foundation. 
 
This appraisal is prepared for the Dave Nicol to determine the subject’s fair market value. 
This report represents my analysis and conclusion of the estimated As Is market value of the 
fee simple interest in the subject property, as of February 10, 2023.  
 
Appraisal Process and Inspection: 
The subject property was inspected on February 10, 2023. The photographs of the subject 
included in this report were also taken on February 10, 2023. The appraiser walked and 
drove around the site and viewed multiple aerial photos.  
 
In developing approaches to value, the market data were collected from the assessor’s office 
files, other appraisers, realtors, or persons knowledgeable to the subject property and 
marketplace.  Attempts were made to confirm sales data with at least one of the parties 
involved in the transaction.   
 
Regional, city, county and neighborhood data were based upon information available from 
the city, county and Iowa Economic Development. 
 

Information about the subject property was obtained by inspecting the interior and exterior of 
the property, interviews, and public records.  
 

In estimating the highest and best use of the property, an analysis was made of data 
compiled in the steps noted above. In addition, a study of the market in the subject area has 
been made to determine the economic feasibility of the subject property. 
 
The subject property is a tract of right-of-way in a residential area of Cedar Falls. The best 
indicator of value is the sales approach and this will be the only approach developed herein, 
since it is the primary approach used by market participants.  
 
The appraiser is not a building or environmental inspector. An inspection was made of the 
visible areas at the time of the inspection.  The site is assumed to be stable and free of any 
environmental contamination and there are no encroachments by the subject property or on 
the subject property unless otherwise stated in this report. 

30

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -16- 

 
The appraiser is not qualified to: 
 
 Make a determination whether the subject property meets current ADA guidelines 
 Detect if the subject site contains any environmental contamination 
 Survey the subject property to verify actual size or to make a determination as to whether 

the subject property encroaches on another property or another property is encroaching 
on the subject property 

If there is any question regarding any of these issues, it is the responsibility of the client to 
obtain verification from qualified sources. 
 
Type of Report and Definition of Value: 
 
The appraiser is estimating the As Is market value of the fee simple interest in the subject 
property.  
 
Fee Simple Estate:  Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitation imposed by the government powers of taxation, eminent domain, 
police power, and escheat. 
 
Leased Fee Estate:  An ownership interest held by a landlord with the rights of use and 
occupancy conveyed by lease to others.  The rights of the lessor (the leased fee owner) and 
the leased fee are specified by contract terms contained within the lease.   
 
In this report, I have been asked to estimate the value of the Fee Simple Interest in the 
subject property, As Is. 
 
Assignment Results: An appraiser’s opinions or conclusions, not limited to value, that were 
developed when performing an appraisal assignment, an appraisal review assignment, or a 
valuation service other than an appraisal or appraisal review. 

Comment: Physical characteristics are not assignment results. 

 
 

31

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -17- 

 

Definition of Market Value:  
 
Market value, as herein used, is defined as follows: 
 

The most probable price that a property should bring in a competitive and open market 
under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently 
and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit 
in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing 
of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:  
 

1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;  
2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they 

consider their own best interests;  
3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;  
4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 

arrangements comparable thereto; and  
5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold 

unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted 
by anyone associated with the sale. 1 

  

                                                           
1 [Code Federal Regulations, Title XI, Part 34.42 (FIRREA)] 
 32

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -18- 

 
 
Assignment Conditions: 
 

The appraisal assignment is based on the assumptions/conditions outlined below. Pursuant 
to the requirement within Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP, 
2020-2021, extended into 2023 Edition) Standards Rule 2-2 (a) (xi), it is stated here that the 
use of these extraordinary assumptions and/or hypothetical conditions may affect the 
assignment results.  
 
Extraordinary Assumption: an assignment-specific assumption as of the effective date 
regarding uncertain information used in an analysis which, if found to be false, could alter the 
appraiser's opinions and conclusions. 
 
Comment: Extraordinary assumptions presume as fact otherwise uncertain information about 
physical, legal, or economic characteristics of the subject property; or about conditions 
external to the property such as market conditions or trends; or about the integrity of data 
used in an analysis. 
 
The appraiser is making the following extraordinary assumptions: 
 

 The information provided to the appraiser by the client is true, complete, and  
not misleading. 

 There is no environmental contamination to the subject site from past uses. 
 The subject is zoned R-1, One and Two-Unit Residential 
 The subject contains 1,734 square feet 
 

Hypothetical Condition:  a condition directly related to a specific assignment, which is 
contrary to what exists but is used for the purpose of analysis.  
 

 This report was not subject to any hypothetical conditions.   
 

33

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -19- 

 
Estimated Marketing Time: 3-6 months 
 

Market data indicates the anticipated marketing time for the subject is 6 months.  This 
is based on historical marketing periods of other similar properties that have sold in 
this market and other similar market areas.  However, the list price and the marketing 
effort are paramount to getting a sale within the indicated marketing time.  Properties 
which are over-priced often experience extended marketing times. 

 
Exposure Time:  is defined as “an opinion, based on supporting market data, of the 
length of time that the property interest being appraised would have been offered on 
the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value on the 
effective date of the appraisal".2   
 
In case of the subject, exposure time is determined to be 3 months.   

 
  

                                                           
2 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices & Advisory Opinions, Appraisal Standards Board, The Appraisal Foundation, 
2020-2023. 34

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -20- 

 

COMPETENCY PROVISION 
 
James Herink is a Certified General Real Property Appraiser currently certified by the State 
of Iowa and has been appraising commercial real estate for the past ten years. 
 
Mr. Herink has been appraising residential and multi-family properties for 14 years. He is a 
graduate of Denver University, with a Bachelor’s Degree in Journalism. He is currently taking 
courses from the Appraisal Institute and working towards a future designation. He 
successfully achieved General Certification in August of 2012. 
 
The appraiser has appraised retail properties, light industrial, mini-storage, warehouses and 
multi-family properties in the past nine years and is familiar with the processes of valuation. 
The appraiser is seeking guidance from other knowledgeable persons within Rally Appraisal 
who have experience with valuation of this type as well.  
 
A list of qualifications and a list of various property types appraised are in the addendum 
section of this report. 
 
 
  

35

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -21- 

 
APPRAISAL:3 
 

(Noun) the act or process of developing an opinion of value; an opinion of value. 
(Adjective) of or pertaining to appraising and related functions such as appraisal 
practice or appraisal services. 

 
Comment: An appraisal is numerically expresses as a specific amount, as a range of 
numbers, or as a relationship (e.g., not more than, not less than) to a previous value 
opinion or numerical benchmark (e.g., assessed value, collateral value). 

 

TYPE OF REPORT: 
According to the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, Standards Rule 2-2, 
an appraisal report must be prepared under one the following two options:  Appraisal Report 
or Restricted Appraisal Report.  These two report types are described as follows: 

 

Appraisal Report: 
Should contain a summary of all information significant to the solution of the 
appraisal problem.  “Summarize” is the distinguishing term related to the Appraisal 
Report. 
 
Restricted Appraisal Report: 
Should contain a brief statement of information significant to the solution of the 
appraisal problem.  “State” is the distinguishing term related to the Restricted 
Appraisal Report. 
 

 
This is an Appraisal Report, which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements set 
forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (a) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP) for an Appraisal Report.  As such, it presents only summary discussions of 
the data, reasoning, and analyses that were used in the appraisal process to develop the 
appraiser’s opinion of value.  Supporting documentation concerning data, reasoning, and 
analyses is retained in the appraiser’s files.  The depth of discussion contained in this report 
is specific to the needs of the client and for the intended use as stated in the scope of 
work.  The appraiser is not responsible for unauthorized use of this report. 
 
  

                                                           
3 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice and Advisory Opinions, 2020-23 Edition, Appraisal Standards Board, The Appraisal 
Foundation, page 3. 36

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -22- 

 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
 
Legal Description: 

 
To be determined 
 
Owner of Record: 
City of Cedar Falls 
 
Property History: 
The subject has not been sold or transferred in the last three years per the assessor’s 
records. It has not been listed for sale in the last 12 months on any of the listing services 
available to the appraiser. There are no known pending sales contracts on the subject as of 
the effective date of this report.  
 
Encroachment/Encumbrance: 
There were no apparent issues with encroachments or encumbrances noted at the time of 
the inspection.  
  

37

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -23- 

 

ASSESSED VALUE & TAXES 
 
The subject is owned by the City of Cedar Falls and not subject to taxation and does not have 
an assessed value. The assessed land values of nearby residential lots range from $2.86 to 
$4.95 per square foot. If the subject were taxed, it would likely be in this range. The appraiser 
recommends the client monitor future assessments.  

 
  

38

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -24- 

 

THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 

The appraisal process is the orderly gathering, organizing and analyzing of factual data, in order 
to estimate a logical conclusion of a defined value as of a given date.  The valuation process 
begins when an appraiser fully identifies the appraisal problem and ends when he/she reports the 
solution to the client.  The valuation process is accomplished by following specific steps; the 
number of steps used depends on the nature of the appraisal assignment and the data available. 
 
The first step is defining the appraisal problem, which involves determining the following 
considerations: 

1. Identification of real estate 

2. Identification of the property rights to be appraised 

3. Date of value estimate 

4. Use of appraisal 

5. Definition of value 

6. Other limiting conditions 

Once the appraisal problem is defined, the appraiser collects and analyzes data that affects the 
market value of the subject property.  The necessary data to be gathered includes general data 
for the region, community and neighborhood in which the subject property is located.  This 
general data includes socio-economic, governmental, and environmental information.  Also, 
specific data is gathered for the subject property and possible comparable properties.  This 
specific data includes site and improvements, sales and listings, costs and depreciation, 
income/expense and capitalization rate information.  It is most desirable to use specific data 
within close proximity of the property to be appraised, but is sometimes necessary to search 
beyond neighborhood or community boundaries in order to find sufficient and/or reliable data.  
The examination of the data should lead to an understanding of the interrelationships specific 
area.  It also provides raw data from which to extract numerical measurements and other 
evidence of market trends. 
 

The next step in this process is to analyze and estimate the highest and best use for the subject 
site, as vacant, and as improved (in the case of improved properties). 
 

Then the specific data is analyzed and used in one or more of the three standard approaches to 
value that are generally recognized by the appraisal community.  The most common titles for 
these approaches are The Cost Approach, The Direct Sales Comparison Approach, and The 
Income Approach. 
 

The final step in the appraisal process is the reconciliation of the value indications given by each 
of the applied approaches into a single dollar figure.  When all three approaches are used, the 
appraiser examines the spread among the three, separate indications.  A wide spread may 
indicate that one or more of the approaches is not truly applicable to the appraisal problem.  The 
appraiser must always consider the relative dependability and applicability of each approach in 
reconciling the value indications into a final estimate of defined value.  In the reconciliation, the 
appraiser considers the following critical factors: which of the approaches is based upon the 
greatest amount of reliable data, which approach most closely reflects the actual attitudes of 
typical buyers and sellers, and which approach (s) is most pertinent given the objective of the 
appraisal.  The reconciliation also provides an opportunity to resolve variations and 
inconsistencies among the value indications and the methods with which they were derived. 
 

The report of defined value provides the client with a summary of the data analyzed, the methods 
used, and the reasoning that led to the value estimate.

39

Item 2.



 

 

COMMUNITY DATA 
 

 
 

Overview 
The Waterloo/Cedar Falls metro area includes the communities of Waterloo, Cedar Falls, 
Evansdale, and the outlying communities of Elk Run Heights, Hudson, Washburn and 
Raymond.  The population, education and household statistics for the Waterloo/Cedar Falls 
metro area as reported by the Cedar Valley Alliance are on the following pages. 
 
  

40

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -26- 

 

 

41

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -27- 

 

 
  

42

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -28- 

 

Employment  
Employment and cost of living factors, including the area’s largest employers, are shown 
below. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics is indicating an overall unemployment rate for 
Black Hawk County of 3.3% as of December, 2022. This is compared with 3.1% for the entire 
state of Iowa and 3.6% for the United States.  

 

43

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -29- 

 

 
  

44

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -30- 

 

Education 

The Waterloo/Cedar Falls metro area is currently served by two public school districts:  
Cedar Falls Community School District and the Waterloo Community School District. There 
are also a few parochial schools in Waterloo and Cedar Falls. The community of Hudson has 
its own school district. 
 
Cedar Falls is home to the University of Northern Iowa.  The University of Northern Iowa is a 
four-year state university with an approximate enrollment of 9,300 students. 
 
Hawkeye Community College is a two-year college, located on the south side of Waterloo, 
with an enrollment of approximately 5,250. 
 
Transportation 
For decades, Waterloo/Cedar Falls had been known as the largest metropolitan area in the 
country without a link to the interstate system. The first link came in 1985 when Interstate 380 
was completed, that connects Waterloo and Cedar Falls to Cedar Rapids and Interstate 80 to 
the south. The second link came in the early 2000’s when the Avenue of the Saints was 
completed within the metro area. This avenue is a four-lane expressway that connects St. 
Paul Minnesota to St. Louis Missouri. Additionally, US Highway 20, a four-lane expressway 
running east/west connects Waterloo and Cedar Falls to Dubuque to the east and Interstate 
35 to west. The stretch of US Highway 20 from west of the metro area to Interstate 35 was 
completed in 2003. These three highways are known as the “Golden Triangle” and have 
helped spur growth in both Waterloo and Cedar Falls during the last few decades.  
 
There are multiple railroads in the metro area. 
 
The Waterloo Municipal Airport on the north side of the metro area provides air service. 
  

45

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -31- 

 

 
Conclusion 
The Waterloo/Cedar Falls metro area experienced a major economic downturn in the late 
1970s and early 1980s with the community’s largest employer, John Deere, laying off several 
thousand employees.  Rath Packing, another major employer, also shut down their facility in 
Waterloo about the same time, laying off several thousand more workers. 
 
Over the past two decades, this metro area has been making progress-recovering jobs lost 
during that economic downturn. 
 
The Cedar Falls Industrial Park has been rapidly expanding over the past decade with 
several local businesses relocating and new businesses coming into the area.  This office 
park has an aggregate employment base of approximately 5,000 jobs.  
 
There has been some growth with IBP, now Tyson’s, on the northeast side of Waterloo in the 
past decade with a recent multimillion dollar expansion announced that will create more than 
200 jobs. The Isle of Capri Casino in Waterloo in 2008 creating nearly 800 jobs.  
 
There are several apartment projects on the west side of Cedar Falls that have been 
developed in the past 10-15 years that are oriented to students of the university. 
 
The population projections reported by the Cedar Valley Alliance online may be unjustified, 
given the amount of growth in this area.  At the very least, the population is expected to 
remain stable for this metro area with a potential slight increase in population. 
 
  

46

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -32- 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD DATA 
 

 
 
Adjoining Property Uses 
 
North Single Family 
South Single Family 
East  Single Family 
West Single Family 
 
Neighborhood Composition 
The subject is located on the southwest edge of Cedar Falls, which has been rapidly 
expanding during the last ten years with single family, condominiums and twin home 
properties. The Cedar Falls School District opened a new elementary school in the 
neighborhood in the fall of 2018, which has been a major draw to the area. The predominate 
land use in the neighborhood is single-family residential with some multi-family and 
commercial along the arterials.  
 
Neighborhood Boundaries 
The neighborhood boundaries are considered to be Union Road to the west, Viking Road to 
the south, State Highway 58 to the east and University Avenue to the north.  
  

47

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -33- 

 

Transportation Linkages and Major Arterials 
The subject fronts Hudson Road, the main north/south arterial in this part of the Cedar Falls. 
Hudson Road intersects with US Highway 20, approximately two miles south of the subject’s 
location and State Highway 57 (West 1st Street), approximately four miles north of the 
subject's location. The City of Cedar Falls recently extended Greenhill Road from where it 
stopped by Hudson Road, just north of the subject, to link up with West 27th Street. This is 
an attempt to alleviate the traffic congestion along Hudson Road during events at the 
University of Northern Iowa. The new extension will provide access to the undeveloped areas 
in the subject’s immediate neighborhood and will likely only increase demand. Overall, the 
subject’s linkages are favorable. 
  
Neighborhood Trends 
Growth has been steady on the west side of Cedar Falls since vacant land is available. In the 
last ten years a few new single-family subdivisions have been developed due to the strong 
demand for new housing units. There are a few newer subdivisions in the works on the west 
side of town and its expected the growth will continue at its current pace into the foreseeable 
future. The extension of Greenhill Road from Hudson Road to West 27th Street will most 
likely lead to more growth on the area due to the improved traffic flow on the west side of the 
community.  
 
Proposed Development 
Two large residential subdivisions are in the works on the west side of Cedar Falls. Skogman 
Homes and Panther Development have added more than 350 residential lots to the market in 
the last decade years and hold the rights for additional land for future development. These 
subdivisions surround a new elementary school constructed by the Cedar Falls School 
District that opened in 2018.  
 
In the multi-family sector, there have been more than 400 units constructed along Greenhill 
Road in both Cedar Falls and Waterloo since 2011. The newest complex was recently 
completed and contains 79 units within a single, four-story building. The demand for multi-
family in Cedar Falls has been strong during the last few years with most complexes being 
100% occupied within 30-60 days of completion.  
 
The most intensive commercial development in Cedar Falls is occurring southeast of the 
subject off Viking Road near the intersection with State Highway 58. This area is anchored by 
big-box retailers such as Target, Fleet and Farm, Hobby Lobby, Wal-Mart and Menards.  
 
Neighborhood Comments 
The subject property is a developing neighborhood on the southwest side of Cedar Falls. The 
neighborhood has seen steady growth in the last ten years and growth is expected to 
continue at a similar pace into the near future. 
  

48

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -34- 

 

MARKET ANALYSIS 
 
The subject property consists of a tract of unused right-of-way on the west side of Hudson 
Road just north of Ashworth Drive. It is approximately 21’ x 80’ and contains 1,734 square 
feet. It is within a developing residential area, which contains mostly single-family homes plus 
some condominiums. Since the subject is a narrow strip of land with marginal utility, it would 
likely only be attractive to a limited number of buyers, such as an adjacent property owner or 
local municipality. This factor limits its marketability.  
 
 
 
 
 
  

49

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -35- 

 

SITE DESCRIPTION: 
 

AERIAL PHOTO (ESTIMATE ONLY) 
 

 
 

  

50

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -36- 

 

SITE AREA PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT 
 

 
 

Location 
West side of Hudson Road just north of Ashworth Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
Shape/Size 
Rectangle with a width of 80.31’ and a depth of 21.41, per the information provided by the 
client, which is not an actual survey. The total site area of the subject is estimated to be 
1,734 square feet.  
 
Topography/Soil Condition: 
The subject is a mostly level and the soil is assumed adequate to support any improvements 
allowed by zoning.  

Utilities: 
Electricity  Yes 
Natural Gas  Yes 
City Water  Yes 
Sanitary Sewer  Yes 

51

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -37- 

 

 
Visibility/Access 
The subject is located along Hudson Road, a main north / south road on the west side of 
Cedar Falls. It has average visibility and access.  
 
Flood Zone: 
Panel:  19013C0277F 
Zone:     Zone X; Area of minimal flood hazard   
Date  July 18, 2011 (See Flood Map Below) 
 
Zoning: 
No zoning, since the subject is a right-of-way owned by the city. The majority of the 
surrounding properties are zoned R-1, One and Two-Unit Residential.  
 
Comments: 
The subject is a mostly level, narrow parcel, which parallels a north / south arterial. It has 
adequate access, visibility and all utilities are available. Per FEMA, the subject is not in the 
flood plain. The property is assumed adequate to support any improvements allowed by 
zoning.  
 

Flood Map 
 

 

52

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -38- 

 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS 
 
Highest and Best Use is defined as: 
 
“The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or an improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible and that results in the 
highest value.”4 
 
The competitive market forces, where the subject property is located, determine whether the 
current use is the highest and best use of the subject property, not the appraiser, developer, 
or property owner.   
 
The subject consists of a tract of city-owned right-of-way along an arterial. Its current use is 
consistent with the surrounding property uses.  
 
Although potential exists for industrial development, the smaller size and lack of depth of the 
tract limits its use potential. The subject would most likely only appeal to an extremely narrow 
set of buyers, such as an adjacent property owner.  
 
The subject property is physically possible, legally permissible, and is financially feasible 
although it is not income producing.  The maximally productive use is to hold the land for 
future development. 
 
The site, as vacant and ready for development, is the highest and best use until there is 
demand for change to an improved use.  
 
Most Likely User / Timing of Use 
The most probable buyer for the subject would an owner-occupied user and the typical 
marketing time is 3 to 6 months for this property type. 
 
 
 
 
  

                                                           
4 The Appraisal of Real Estate, Fifteenth Edition 

53

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -39- 

 

VALUATION METHODOLOGY 
The valuation process is used to develop a well-supported estimate of a defined value, which is 
based upon consideration of all pertinent general and specific data.  Appraisers estimate property 
value by applying specific appraisal procedures, which reflect three distinct methods for analyzing 
data mathematically cost, direct sales comparison, and income capitalization. 
 
All three standard approaches to value will be considered herein The Cost Approach, The Direct 
Sales Comparison Approach and The Income Approach.  All approaches will be processed and 
included whenever the data is sufficient.  However, there are instances when data is inadequate for 
an approach.  In such cases, an explanation will be provided as to why the approach was deleted.   
 
The Cost Approach involves estimating the land value based on market sales and adding the 
depreciated cost of the improvements.  The estimated cost is based on Marshall and Swift online 
service and/or the owner’s actual cost for proposed construction projects.  The estimated 
replacement cost represents the cost of functional replacement cost and not reproduction cost.  
Depreciation is based on the economic age-life method and supported based on market sales.  The 
cost approach is best used on newer properties where the amount of depreciation is less and makes 
this approach more reliable.   
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach requires the gathering of data as similar to the subject 
property as possible and provides an indication of value through the comparative process.  The 
approach compares units that have sold, with the subject as a unit, recognizing differences of 
individual characteristics of each property.  Determining the degree of comparability between market 
data and the subject involves their similarity with respect to many valuation factors including physical 
characteristics.  Adjustments are made for market recognized differences.  The sales comparison 
approach is most useful when a number of similar properties have sold recently or are currently for 
sale in the subject property’s market. 
  
The Income Approach is a capitalization of the subject property’s typical net income stream in order 
to indicate a market value for the subject property.  This capitalization is the method, which 
recognizes and measures the present worth of the future benefits of property ownership, such as net 
income.  This approach then reflects current market rents, when applicable, and competitive 
operating expenses.  In the appraisal of income producing property, the net income stream is a major 
motivating factor in the purchase process.  The typical purchaser/investor will look at the property’s 
ability to produce net income in order to provide a competitive return on invested capital, as well as, 
provide for any debt service.  This approach is most influential when comparable rental and expense 
information is readily available. 
 
It should be noted that, while all applicable approaches should have some reasonable correlation, 
specific adjustments will not be exactly the same in each approach.  This is because each approach 
indicates that market value of the subject property by measuring different types of market data and 
different market participants.  For example, the location adjustment for the subject site in Cost 
Approach may not be the same amount of adjustment ($ or %) as in the Direct Sales Comparison 
Approach.  This is because the purchasers of vacant land look at the land as having a larger choice 
of improvements or uses; it has greater possible utility as a vacant site.  The purchaser of an existing 
improved property is ‘locked’ into a smaller number of choices that are limited by the existing 
improvements.  In the Income Approach, a prospective tenant will determine an even different 
interpretation of that location based upon his or her own desires and the particular leasable space 
and not the whole improvement or not the consideration of the vacant site.   
 
Detailed explanations and processes for each reliable approach follow in the report.  It is suggested 
that all data be studied prior to evaluation.

54

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -40- 

 

EXPLANATION OF THE COST APPROACH 
 
The subject is a strip of unused right-of-way. It is being valued using the direct sales 
comparison approach and the cost approach will not be developed. Omission of the cost 
approach does not impact the final value estimate.  
 
  

55

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -41- 

 

EXPLANATION OF THE DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
The Direct Sales Comparison Approach is a method of arriving at an indication of value by 
comparison of sale properties as a unit, with the Subject Property as a unit. 
 
This method is most representative of the actions of persons involved in real estate 
transactions.  However, the comparisons shown in the report are judgments of the appraiser, 
based on cumulative market data, and experience of the appraiser.  These adjustments are 
not intended to express, or imply, the actual reasoning used by the seller or purchaser of a 
particular property. 
 
Application of this method required analysis of the sale properties, as well as, of the Subject 
Property.  Careful selection of sale properties which have the most similarity and which are 
the most influential is paramount to this process.  It also requires careful consideration of the 
differences of various factors found in the individual sale property, and the property being 
appraised. 
 
Narrative comparisons may include dollar or percentage adjustments, which provide 
guidance to the values indicated by each sale, as well as the appraiser’s conclusion of value 
indicated by this approach. 
 
The comparisons will be made on a table format with narrative explanations to the 
adjustments below the table. The adjustments will be tabulated for each sale property 
separately. 
 
After arriving at an indicated value by each sale, the group of sales will be recapped on the 
same page, which will provide the reader a convenient illustration of the differences within 
the group of sales, along with the differences of net adjustments. 
 
The reconciliation of the sales is a narrative discussion of the influence of the various sale 
properties, and gives a conclusion as to which sale, or sales, has been considered to be 
most influential toward the indication of value for this approach. 
 
 
 
 

56

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -42- 

 

Valuation – SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 

Valuation – SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
 
The appraiser researched land sales in Cedar Falls for lots with similar use potential to the 
subject. The Multiple Listing Service and the Black Hawk County Assessors records were 
researched and the following sales were discovered and analyzed.  
 

LAND SALES SUMMARY TABLE 
 

 
 

Summary: 
The sales in the chart above are all single-family lots in Cedar Falls that have sold in the last 
12 months. They are within neighborhoods in Cedar Falls similar to the subject’s location and 
are considered to be the best available, most recent, and provide a favorable indication to 
value the subject property. The typical buyer would likely consider all five of the sales, if all 
were available.  
 
Summary 
The sales indicate a range of value for the subject property from $3.55 to $7.03 per square 
foot, with average of $5.99 per square foot. The final value estimate for the subject is toward 
the lower range since it fronts a primary arterial, which would deter many buyers.  
 

$4.00 X 1,734 = $6,936 
 

The estimated As Is market value of the fee simple interest in subject, by the sales approach, 
rounds $7,000.  

 
SEVEN THOUSAND DOLLARS  

$7,000, As Is 
 

 
 
 
  

57

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -43- 

 

 
LAND SALES MAP 

 

 
 

  

58

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -44- 

 

Land Sale Photos 
 

 
4906 Kara Drive 

 
2025 Ashworth Drive 

59

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -45- 

 

 
1901 Green Creek Road 

 
4224 Shocker Road 

60

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -46- 

 

 
4407 Shocker Road 

  

61

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -47- 

 

Valuation – Income Approach - DIRECT CAPITALIZATION 
 
Income Approach Summary: 
 
The subject property is being valued as a residential lot and is not income producing. The 
income approach is not being developed in this report because it is not applicable.  Omission 
of the income approach does not affect the credibility of this appraisal report.  
 
  

62

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -48- 

 

RECONCILIATION & FINAL VALUE CONCLUSION 
 
The value indicated by application of each of the utilized approaches is: 
 
Cost Approach Not Processed  
 
Sales Comparison Approach $7,000, Fee Simple, As Is  
 
Income Approach Not Processed  
 
The sales comparison approach is the only applicable approach to value. This approach 
indicates the following As Is value of the subject as of February 10, 2023.  
 

SEVEN THOUSAND DOLLARS  
$7,000, As Is 

 
 

 
 
  

63

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -49- 

 

ADDENDA 
 

64

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -50- 

 

65

Item 2.



 

Rally Appraisal, L.L.C.   -51- 

 

 
 

66

Item 2.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: August 7, 2023  

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Parking for Civic/Institutional Uses in 

Downtown Character District (TA23-002) 

 

 
Background 
 

The City received an inquiry 

from St. Patrick Catholic 

Church about constructing a 

new parking lot on a property 

they recently acquired that is 

located on the north side of 

7th Street between 

Washington Street and Main 

Street.  The property is 

across Clay Street from St. 

Patrick’s School and across 

7th Street from St. Patrick’s 

Church. The school, church, 

and vacant property are located in the Urban General (UG) frontage area within the 

Downtown Character District. The property is currently vacant land with no buildings. 

Previously another church was located on the site but has since been demolished.  

St. Patrick’s would like to use the lot for parking but in the future may build a daycare or 

other building on the site. There are a couple of challenges the church has identified 

regarding future use of the property.  They have indicated that the 2-story minimum 

height requirement for a new building may be problematic, as they are only 

contemplating a 1-story daycare center in the future. Secondly, in most zoning districts, 

as is the case here, parking is not generally allowed without a principal use on the 

property and the location of parking is based on setback standards relative to the 

67

Item 3.



 
 

principal buildings and uses on the site. The question is whether civic and institutional 

uses should be treated differently as they are generally located on larger or contiguous 

parcels, as you can see in the image above for St. Patrick’s school and church, Lincoln 

Elementary and the Methodist Church. Also, is the 2-story minimum height standard in 

the UG, UG2, and Storefront areas of the Downtown Character District problematic, 

given the small size of many properties and parking requirements for upper story uses.   

Analysis 
 

Parking Location Standards 

The intent of the Urban General and Storefront frontages in the Downtown Character 

District is to encourage buildings to be built close to the street so that street frontages 

are lined with buildings to support a pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use district. To achieve 

that goal, the regulating plan for the Downtown Character District contains a build-to line 

at the fronts of lots indicating where buildings should be aligned along the street. The 

parking setback line in the Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages is 

generally about 30 feet behind the build-to line (RBL) indicating where parking can be 

located.  Along the side streets (generally the numbered streets that run perpendicular 

to the mid-block alleys), there is an area where parking can be placed closer to the 

street if it is enclosed within a building. See an excerpt from the Downtown regulating 

plan below with the red lines indicating the build-to area and the blue line representing 

the parking setback line.  Parking can be located anywhere behind the blue lines.  

 

 

68

Item 3.



 
 

It should be noted that parking lots in all zoning districts must be set back from 

streetside lot lines and abutting properties and screened with trees and shrubs. 

Following is a list of the parking setback rules for various zoning districts:  

 In residential zoning districts no parking is allowed in the front yard (area 

between the principal buildings and the street), required front yard or required 

side yards.  Required side yards are generally 10% of the lot width. Required 

front yards in these zones: 

o R-1:    30 feet 

o R-2, R-3: 25 feet 

o R-4:    20 feet 

 MU – Mixed Use District: 30 feet from major streets, 20 feet from interior streets 

and accessways 

 HWY-1 Commercial District: 20 feet  

 C or M Districts: 5 feet, but 10 feet when abutting a residential district 

 

There are several civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character District, 

including St. Patrick Church and School, First Methodist Church, First Presbyterian 

Church, and Lincoln Elementary School.  Civic and Institutional uses such as churches 

and schools are often designed with open spaces, parking areas, and playgrounds in a 

campus-like setting, which in the downtown area often involves multiple adjacent 

properties. While Civic Buildings as designated on the regulating plan and as defined in 

the code, are exempt from certain standards in the new Character District Code, there is 

no specific exemption for parking lots, particularly when located on a separate lot from 

the principal use.  

 
The intent of the Downtown Character District Code is to facilitate development that is 

consistent with the adopted Downtown Vision Plan. One of the major objectives of the 

Vision Plan is to encourage future development that helps preserve the character of the 

Downtown area.  Churches and schools and other institutional uses are important to the 

character and livability of the downtown neighborhoods. Since they operate differently 

than commercial or residential uses, different rules may be warranted, provided they 

ensure that surrounding residential properties and public areas such as parks and 

public sidewalks are buffered from vehicular areas and glare from lights.  

 

Minimum Building Height in the Downtown Character District 

The 2-story minimum building height standard in the UG, UG2, and Storefront Areas is 

intended to ensure a minimum building scale along downtown streets, similar to the 

main street character along the parkade. The minimum height encourages development 

that fully utilizes downtown sites and building up instead of spreading out preserves 

larger areas behind for needed parking. That being said, there are many small 

69

Item 3.



 
 

properties downtown where requiring a second story may require more parking than 

what is possible on the site, making redevelopment challenging. There are also sites 

where mixed-use, storefront-type development is not desired by the property owner, 

such as the case with many civic and institutional uses.  

 

Discussion of Solutions 

 

Minimum Building Height 

Staff have heard from several property owners that a second story would be challenging 

and was not within the anticipated scope of their project.  With such a small downtown 

area in Cedar Falls, the challenges of requiring a minimum building height may 

outweigh the benefits. Staff recommends eliminating the minimum height standard from 

the code. At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on May 24, the 

Commission expressed concern about eliminating the 2-story minimum height 

requirement in all cases and recommended either leaving the code as is or 

coming up with an exception process whereby waiver of the second story could 

be considered on a case-by-case basis based on specific standards. Staff agreed 

to bring back some ideas at a later date for consideration.   

 

Parking Location Standards 

To provide more flexibility for civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character 

District, staff suggests consideration of creating a special rule that would allow parking 

to be located forward of the parking setback line on the regulating plan, but with certain 

conditions that would ensure that parking areas are buffered and screened with 

landscaping and trees from public sidewalks and abutting properties. The following 

language is provided for consideration:  

 

On lots owned by and used for an allowed Civic or Institutional Use, parking 
may be located forward of the parking setback line, provided that:  

1. The parking area is on a lot that contains the subject Institutional or 
Civic Use or directly abuts or is across the street or alley from the Civic 
or Institutional Use;  

2. The parking area is setback a minimum of 10’ from any streetside lot 
line and parking setbacks from common lot lines according to the 
requirements of code shall apply;  

3. The parking area shall be landscaped according to the standards in 
Section 26-220(i), General landscaping of parking within all districts; 

4. If the lot shares a common lot line with a Neighborhood Small or 
Medium frontage lot, or a lot in a R-1 or R-2 District, the parking lot 
shall be set back a minimum of 5 feet from the common lot line and 
screened according to the standards in Section 26-220(i), General 
landscaping of parking areas within all districts.  

70

Item 3.



 
 

5. When a principal building is constructed on the site, the building must 
meet all standards and requirements, as applicable.      

 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  

 

After a public hearing on June 14, 2023 meeting, on a vote of 2-5, the Planning and 

Zoning Commission denied TA23-002, proposed zoning code text amendments to the 

parking setback requirements for civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character 

District.  

 

Therefore, approval will require a 2/3rd majority vote of City Council.       

 
(Note: Per direction of the Planning and Zoning Commission, discussions about 

amending the minimum height standards were postponed until a later date to allow time 

for staff to develop some alternative language for consideration).  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 

Discussion 
5/24/2023 

 
Commission moved to the next item, a zoning code text amendment regarding 
parking and minimum building height for institutional uses in CD-DT. Chair 
Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. 
She explained that the discussion was prompted by an inquiry from St. Patrick’s 
Church about using a vacant lot for a surface parking lot. The property is in the 
Urban General Frontage of the Downtown Character District. She noted that the 
church indicated that sometime in the future they may build a new daycare on 
the site but for now would like to use the entirety of the lot for parking. She 
noted that accessory uses, such as parking, are not allowed without a principal 
use in any zone in the City with a few exceptions. She noted that parking area 
setbacks in most zones are relative to the principal buildings on the site. Also, 
the two-story minimum building height in the UG, UG2 and Storefront areas 
may be problematic as well. Ms. Howard displayed an image of an excerpt of 
the downtown regulating plan to demonstrate how parking setback areas are 
delineated on the Downtown Character District Regulating Plan.  She discussed 
parking setbacks in other zoning districts as a comparison to the Downtown 
Character District code. She noted that the question is whether there should be 
some additional flexibility for parking for civic/institutional uses in the Downtown 
Character District to allow parking forward of the parking setback lines on the 
regulating plan. She noted that there are a number of churches and schools in 
the Downtown Character District with campus-like settings that extend over 
multiple properties. She noted that institutional uses are important to the 
character of the neighborhood and this may warrant different rules, but it is 
important to ensure surrounding development is respected. This might be 
achieved by creating a landscaped buffer between parking areas and public 
sidewalks and adjacent properties. She also discussed the pros and cons of the 
minimum two-story height standard and spoke about solutions that could allow 

71

Item 3.



 
 

for more flexibility for Civic and Institutional uses. At this time the item will be for 
discussion by the Commission. 
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the June 14, 2023 
meeting. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion.  
 
Mr. Leeper stated that he struggles with this request and is concerned about 
making all sorts of exceptions to the rules in the new code.  He feels it sets a 
bad precedent.  
 
Mr. Larson likes the points of challenge with the new code as they give an 
opportunity to consider all options, but he also feels that after going through the 
exhaustive process of creating the zoning code that it’s important to stick to it. 
He believes that the parking matter, regardless of how you feel about it, drives 
the building height situation. He also feels that public/non-profit and private 
development sectors should follow the same rules. 
 
Ms. Crisman feels that the whole vibe of the downtown area is the character of 
density so starting to make exceptions will undo that. She would like to stay with 
the current rules and let them work as they are. 
 
Ms. Lynch agreed with the previous sentiments.  
 
Mr. Larson asked about potentially coming up with a formula for height 
exceptions to allow for consideration of individual projects based on the size of 
the site being considered. 
 
After further discussion, Mr. Larson revised his motion to set the date for a 
public hearing for the parking amendments only and to leave the question of 
minimum height until a later date. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, 
Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), and 0 nays.  

72

Item 3.



 
 

 
Discussion 
6/14/2023 

 
The first item of business was a zoning text amendment regarding parking for 
institutional uses in CD-DT. Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Ms. 
Howard provided background information. She explained that the item was 
presented at the last meeting and gave a brief recap of the information. An 
inquiry from St. Patrick’s about using a vacant lot for a surface parking lot 
prompted the discussion as the property is in the Urban General Frontage of 
the Downtown Character District. They may build a new daycare building in the 
future. The accessory uses, such as parking, are not allowed without a principal 
use. Parking setback in most zones is relative to the principal buildings on the 
site. The question becomes whether parking for civic and institutional uses be 
treated differently. Urban General encourages buildings close to the street with 
parking located behind to create a pedestrian-friendly mixed-use district. The 
parking setback from the street is about 30 feet in this zoning district. Allowance 
can be made for additional area along side streets if it is behind a building wall, 
such as in a garage or in a parking facility. She provided examples of parking 
setbacks in other zoning districts.  
 
Ms. Howard explained that there are a number of churches and schools in the 
Downtown Character District with campus-like settings on multiple properties. 
Institutional uses are important to the character of the neighborhood and may 
warrant different rules, but it is also important to ensure surrounding 
development is respected. Buffering parking areas from public sidewalks and 
adjacent properties would help to do that. She discussed the solutions that were 
discussed at the previous meeting that would allow for more flexibility for civic 
and institutional uses. Staff recommends allowing more flexibility for these types 
of uses and creating a special rule that would allow parking forward of the 
parking setback line with the conditions outlined in the staff report and/or with 
any modifications or additional comments from the Commission. 
 
Paul Dimarco, 1707 E. Bremer Avenue, Waverly, spoke as a parishioner of St. 
Patrick’s. He discussed different projects that he has been a part of with the 
church and asked the Commission to consider support for the proposed zoning 
changes. He thanked staff and the Commission for all their work and support of 
the community. He believes the additional parking would assist in reducing 
parking needs and loads on the neighbors, as well as Main Street events.  
 
Mr. Larson feels it makes sense but still has concerns about a different set of 
rules for civic and institutional uses.  
 
Mr. Leeper feels that the timing is a challenge as the code was just updated and 
this is the first project coming through. To make a change right away doesn’t 
allow the code a chance to work as it has been laid out. 
 
Ms. Crisman agreed to their sentiments, stating that while one location might 
need the additional space, it doesn’t mean that all of the other locations will 
need the additional parking. If the rules are changed, it would be allowed for all 
of them. She would prefer not to change the code. 
 
Mr. Larson asked about the possibility of a variance. Ms. Howard explained that 
anyone has a right to request a variance, but the bar is set high to show that 

73

Item 3.



 
 

you don’t have any use of the property because of zoning rules. It would be 
difficult to meet a variance standard in this case. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked if the property was included in the parking study. Ms. 
Howard was uncertain but believed it was outside the area of the downtown 
study.  
 
Ms. Crisman made a motion to approve the item as recommended. Mr. Larson 
seconded the motion. The motion was denied with 2 ayes (Alberhasky and 
Hartley), and 5 nays (Crisman, Larson, Leeper, Moser and Stalnaker). 
 

 

74

Item 3.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5169 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING PARAGRAPH 26-193.1A.6., ON-SITE/OFF-
STREET VEHICLE PARKING AND ACCESS, AND ALSO ADDING 
ASSOCIATED CROSS-REFERENCES THROUGH-OUT SECTION 26-193, 
BUILDING FORM STANDARDS, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF 
ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26, 
ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 
IOWA TO ADD AN EXCEPTION TO THE PARKING SETBACK 
REQUIREMENTS FOR CIVIC AND INSTITUTIONAL USES IN THE 
DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT.  

 
WHEREAS, paragraph 26-193.1A.6 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, sets forth 

certain standards for on-site/off-street vehicle parking and access in the Downtown Character 
District; and  

 
WHEREAS, there are certain exceptions listed to the parking setback requirements within 

said paragraph to provide flexibility in certain circumstances and under certain conditions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered a request to amend this 

paragraph to add an exception that would allow parking to be located forward of the parking 
setback line for Civic and Institutional Uses in the Downtown Character District, provided certain 
conditions are met; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended denial of this request in 

order to better preserve the pedestrian-oriented intent of the district and to encourage downtown 
properties to be used primarily for active building uses; and  

 
WHEREAS, at least a 2/3rd majority of the City Council deems it in the best interest of the 

community to approve the proposed amendments despite the Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s disapproval; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1: Paragraph 26-193.1A.6c., On-Site/Off-Street Vehicle Parking and Access, within 
Division 2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, 
Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to 
add a new subparagraph (iii), as follows:  
 

(iii).  On lots owned by and used for a permitted Civic or Institutional Use, parking may be located 
forward of the parking setback line, provided that:  
(a) The parking area is on a lot that contains the subject Civic or Institutional Use or directly 

abuts or is across the street or alley from the subject Civic or Institutional Use; and 
(b) The parking area is set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from any streetside lot line. This 

streetside setback area shall be used for landscape screening and trees; screening shrubs 
shall be minimum 18 inches in height at planting and spaced appropriately to form at 

75

Item 3.



maturity a continuous, effective visual screen 3 to 4 feet in height to provide a buffer 
between the parking area and the STREET SPACE. In addition, canopy shade trees meeting 
the standards in Section 26-195.4F, Street Tree Specifications, shall be planted at an 
average spacing not greater than 50 feet on center within the streetside setback area; and 

(c) If the lot is located on a Neighborhood Small or Neighborhood Medium frontage lot or 
shares a common lot line with a Neighborhood Small or Neighborhood Medium frontage lot 
or shares a common lot line with a lot in an R-1 or R-2 District, the parking area shall be 
set back a minimum of 5 feet from any common lot line and screened with shrubs to form a 
continuous, effective visual screen as specified in paragraph (b) above; and 

(d) The parking complies with the vision triangle restrictions in Section 26-220(e)(7); and  
(e) When a principal building is constructed on the site, the building must be constructed 

according to the regulating plan and meet all standards and requirements, as applicable. 
 

Section 2: Paragraph 26-193.2F.4., Rear Lot Area, within Division 2, Specific Districts, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new paragraph c., 
as follows:  
  
 c. See also additional parking location exceptions specified in 26.193.1A.6.  

 

Section 3: Paragraph 26-193.4F.3., Rear Lot Area, within Division 2, Specific Districts, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new paragraph c., 
as follows:  
  
 c. See also additional parking location exceptions specified in 26.193.1A.6.  

 

Section 4: Paragraph 26-193.5E.3., Rear Lot Area, within Division 2, Specific Districts, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new paragraph c., 
as follows:  
  
 c. See also additional parking location exceptions specified in 26.193.1A.6.  

 
 

INTRODUCED:     August 21, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 
 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

76

Item 3.



77

Item 3.



TV

7.
5'

100'0

SCALE 1"=100'

N

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

CGA

J:\23-DS-0012\dwgs\3_ Exhibits\23-DS-0012 - EX.02.dwg - EX.02A -  07-24-23 - 2:58pm
 - ACD276

Saint Patrick
Campus Exhibit  7/24/23

W 7th St

W 6th St

W 8th St

M
ai

n 
S

t

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

S
t

C
la

y 
S

t

S
ta

te
 S

t

Elementary
and Middle
School Area

Church, Commons,
Gym and  Office Area

Preschool and
Child Care

Area

Parking

78

Item 3.



79

Item 3.



80

Item 3.



201 Washington Street, Cedar Falls, IA
t. 319-260-2016
structurecedarvalley.com

To whom it may concern,

I am in favor of our city council considering some small alterations to the downtown form-based code.  
While those involved in the form based code did a wonderful job (in my opinion), I believe that code is not 
and will not be perfect for any and all situations.  I don't think that an amendment to the newly adopted code 
should be a concern, but just that the code is imperfect and incapable of encompassing every situation. 
I would take the stance that institutional and educational entities and campuses should be heard when 
expansion to adjacent parcels is needed and possible. 

 

Respectfully,

Brian Wingert
Structure Real Estate, Partner
201 Washington St
Cedar Falls, IA

81

Item 3.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: August 8, 2023 

   SUBJECT:   Political sign ordinance amendment 
 
 

Section 3-64 of the Code of Ordinances addressing political signs is unlawful in a couple of 

respects.  Courts have held that requiring a permit and fee for posting political signs on private 

property is an unconstitutional abridgment of First Amendment rights.  Also, it is a similar 

unlawful abridgment to impose a deadline for removing such signs from private property.   

 

Campaign signs may not be placed on public property according to State law.  State law also 

prohibits the placement of campaign signs near polling places as provided in the current 

ordinance.  That is why no changes to those provisions of the current ordinance are 

recommended.   

 

Attached to this Memorandum please find proposed ordinance changes to bring Sec. 3-64 into 

legal compliance.  It should be noted that at my recommendation the provisions to be stricken 

have not been enforced since we learned of the problems with the ordinance. 

 

I recommend approval of the changes. 

        

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  Thank you.  

82

Item 4.



1 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 3-64, POLITICAL SIGNS, OF ARTICLE II, 

SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 

3-64, POLITICAL SIGNS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 3-64, Political Signs, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

3-64, Political Signs, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 3-64. Political signs. 

Any person who desires to post political signs within the city limits shall first obtain a temporary sign permit. 
All of such signs must be removed within one week after the election which the signs refer to. A political sign shall 
not be attached to any city property, nor shall any such No political sign shall be posted on the premises of any 
polling place or within 300 feet of any outside door of any building affording access to any room where the polls 
are held, or any outside door of any building to any hallway, corridor, stairway or other means of reaching the 
room where the polls are held, except that this prohibition shall not apply to the posting of signs on private 
property not a polling place.  

(Code 2017, § 3-65) 

 

INTRODUCED:  ___________________________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  _____________________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:  _____________________________________________ 

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:  ______________________________________________ 

ADOPTED:  _______________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
         

83

Item 4.



 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 3036 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 3-64, POLITICAL SIGNS, OF ARTICLE II, 

SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 

3-64, POLITICAL SIGNS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 3-64, Political Signs, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

3-64, Political Signs, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 3-64. Political signs. 

No political sign shall be posted on the premises of any polling place or within 300 feet of any outside door of 
any building affording access to any room where the polls are held, or any outside door of any building to any 
hallway, corridor, stairway or other means of reaching the room where the polls are held, except that this 
prohibition shall not apply to the posting of signs on private property not a polling place.  

(Code 2017, § 3-65) 

 

INTRODUCED:      July 17, 2023      

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    July 17, 2023      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:    August 7, 2023     

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:           

ADOPTED:              

 
 
 
 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
         

84

Item 4.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: May 18, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Council Salary Ordinance 

 
Please find attached proposed changes to Section 2-47 of the Code of Ordinances 

relating to the Salary of Councilmembers.  These changes were discussed during the 

Committee of the Whole meeting on April 17, 2023. 

 

The effects of Section 2-47 changes are to establish $8,500 $12,000 as the annual rate 

of pay beginning January 1, 2024, and to use October as the month of the federal 

consumer price index rate (CPI-U) to calculate the annual increase, which will be 

effective beginning January 1, 2025. 

 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

  
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
       Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 
 
 
  

85

Item 5.



 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE SALARY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS BY REPEALING 

SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, 

CITY COUNCIL, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF 

A NEW SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

     Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division I, Generally, of Article II, City Council, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

           Sec. 2-47. - Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of 
$8,500.00$12,000.00$4,098.60 as of January 1, 2024, and beginningafter January 1, 
2025,2000 an annual salary adjustment shall be awarded equal to the latest calendar 
year annual federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the month of October that 
precedes the effective date of the annual salary adjustmentawarded at the start of 
each fiscal year. Said salary shall be payable in such manner as the council shall by 
motion direct. 

(Code 2017, § 2-43; Ord. No. 2085, § 1, 2-13-1995; Ord. No. 2250, § 1, 1-11-1999) 

      

INTRODUCED:         

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

____________________________ 
                Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

86

Item 5.



 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3037 

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE SALARY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS BY REPEALING 

SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, 

CITY COUNCIL, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF 

A NEW SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

     Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division I, Generally, of Article II, City Council, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

           Sec. 2-47. - Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of $8,500.00 as of 
January 1, 2024, and beginning January 1, 2025, an annual salary adjustment shall be 
awarded equal to the federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the month of 
October that precedes the effective date of the annual salary adjustment. Said salary 
shall be payable in such manner as the council shall by motion direct. 

      

INTRODUCED:     July 17, 2023    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   July 17, 2023    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   August 7, 2023   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

87

Item 5.



   FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Public Records Division 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Marcie Breitbach, Administrative & Parking Supervisor 

 DATE: August 8, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Parking Permits - Ordinance Amendments 

 
Please find attached proposed ordinance amendments that were discussed at the July 
17, 2023 Finance & Business Operations Committee meeting. This ordinance clarifies 
the current 48-hour parking limit and provides an option for temporary long-term parking 
permits for the municipal parking lots. 
 
Additionally, this ordinance also includes a clean-up item for Section 23-411, correcting  
a reference to the Central Business District, which is now known as the Downtown 
Character District. 
 
Please feel free to contact me with questions regarding these proposed amendments. 
Thank you. 
  
     

88

Item 6.



 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTIONS 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL 
PARKING LOTS OR PARKING FACILITIES; AND (2) SECTION 23-411, PARKING 

ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED; AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW 
SECTIONS 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL PARKING LOTS OR PARKING 

FACILITIES AND 23-411, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED, ALL 
CONTAINED IN DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, 

OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, 
OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 

 Section 1.  Section 23-418, Parking permits for municipal parking lots and parking 
facilities, of Division 2, Parking enforcement districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of 
Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Stopping, standing and parking, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a 
new Section 23-418, Parking permits for municipal parking lots and parking facilities, is enacted 
in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-418. Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities. 

(a) Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for 
use in the off-street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be 
assigned to a specific parking lot or facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees 
shall be established from time to time by resolution of the city council. The parking 
permits are  is to be displayed and visible through in the lower left-hand corner of the 
windshield of the vehicle unless the owner or operator of the vehicle has properly 
registered the license plate of the vehicle to be associated with a virtual parking permit 
through the parking enforcement agency designated by the city. 

(b) Monthly permit. The purchase and proper display/registration of a monthly parking 
permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to be parked in the 
designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 consecutive 
hours for the month purchased without penalty. Monthly permitted vehicles parked 
beyond the 48-hour limit without moving are in violation of this subsection and are 
subject to citation for overtime parking and removal by tow at owner’s expense. An 
additional daily parking permit must be purchased separately for temporary long-term 
parking  beyond the 48-hour limit. 

(c) Daily permit (temporary long-term).  In addition to a monthly parking permit, a daily 
parking permit may be purchased by monthly permit holders for temporary long-term 
parking in the same municipal parking lot or facility as the monthly parking permit. The 
purchase and proper display/registration of a daily parking permit entitles the motor 
vehicle to be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility, without 
moving the vehicle, for the designated dates purchased, without penalty or removal by 
tow. 

 

89

Item 6.



 

 

 Section 2.  Section 23-411, Parking enforcement districts described, of Division 2, 
Parking enforcement districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of Article IV, Stopping, 
Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Stopping, standing and parking, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 
23-411, Parking enforcement districts described, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-411. Parking enforcement districts described. 

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, 
shall constitute a parking enforcement district.  

(1) Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in section 26-
191189 as the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), Central Business District (CBD) 
overlay zoning district.  

(2) College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in section 
26-181, College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.  

 

INTRODUCED:     August 7, 2023  

PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   August 7, 2023  

PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

90

Item 6.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 3038 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTIONS 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL 
PARKING LOTS OR PARKING FACILITIES; AND (2) SECTION 23-411, PARKING 

ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED; AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW 
SECTIONS 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL PARKING LOTS OR PARKING 

FACILITIES AND 23-411, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED, ALL 
CONTAINED IN DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, 

OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, 
OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 

 Section 1.  Section 23-418, Parking permits for municipal parking lots and parking 
facilities, of Division 2, Parking enforcement districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of 
Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Stopping, standing and parking, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a 
new Section 23-418, Parking permits for municipal parking lots and parking facilities, is enacted 
in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-418. Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities. 

(a) Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for 
use in the off-street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be 
assigned to a specific parking lot or facility and may vary in price. Parking permit fees 
shall be established from time to time by resolution of the city council. The parking 
permits are to be displayed and visible through the windshield of the vehicle unless the 
owner or operator of the vehicle has properly registered the license plate of the vehicle 
to be associated with a virtual parking permit through the parking enforcement agency 
designated by the city. 

(b) Monthly permit. The purchase and proper display/registration of a monthly parking 
permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to be parked in the 
designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 consecutive 
hours for the month purchased without penalty. Monthly permitted vehicles parked 
beyond the 48-hour limit without moving are in violation of this subsection and are 
subject to citation for overtime parking and removal by tow at owner’s expense. An 
additional daily parking permit must be purchased separately for temporary long-term 
parking  beyond the 48-hour limit. 

(c) Daily permit (temporary long-term).  In addition to a monthly parking permit, a daily 
parking permit may be purchased by monthly permit holders for temporary long-term 
parking in the same municipal parking lot or facility as the monthly parking permit. The 
purchase and proper display/registration of a daily parking permit entitles the motor 
vehicle to be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility, without 
moving the vehicle, for the designated dates purchased, without penalty or removal by 
tow. 

 

91

Item 6.



 Section 2.  Section 23-411, Parking enforcement districts described, of Division 2, 
Parking enforcement districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of Article IV, Stopping, 
Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Stopping, standing and parking, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 
23-411, Parking enforcement districts described, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-411. Parking enforcement districts described. 

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, 
shall constitute a parking enforcement district.  

(1) Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in section 26-
191 as the Downtown Character District (CD-DT).  

(2) College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in section 
26-181, College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.  

 

INTRODUCED:     August 7, 2023  

PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   August 7, 2023  

PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

92

Item 6.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: August 7, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Updates to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets 
  And 
  Updates to City Code Section 23-379 – Limited Parking on Specific 

Streets 
 
The no parking ordinance on University Avenue frontage road north of University 
Avenue (Dakota Street) from W. 31st Street to its westerly terminus currently exists on 
both the northerly and southerly sides of the street. UNI has requested to allow limited 
parking on the northerly side of the street. This would allow students to park on the 
street to attend classes held at the UNI owned house located at 8712 University Ave. 
(frontage road). The southerly side of the street within these same limits would remain 
no parking.    
 
The Engineering Division is recommending that the current no parking that exists on the 
northerly side of University Avenue frontage road (Dakota Street) from 31st Street to its 
western terminus be allowed for a duration of 90 minutes. This will allow students to 
park on the street for the duration of scheduled classes.    
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to (1) City Code Section 23-374 – 
Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets to remove the no parking on the northerly side of 
the frontage road; and (2) City Code Section 23-379 – Limited Parking on Specific 
Streets to allow for limited parking so the code will match the proposed limits of the 
parking request along the frontage road. Please see the attached changes to City Code 
Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets and City Code Section 23-379 
– Limited Parking on Specific Streets. 
 
 
 
 
 

93

Item 7.



The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approval to set 
the newly defined area to allow limited on-street parking. This area is shown on the 
attached exhibit.    
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 
 
 
    

94

Item 7.



95

Item 7.

WickeD
Arc

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Arrow

WickeD
Arc

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Stamp

WickeD
Arrow

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Stamp



 

 

 
Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the streets or 
portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

Frontage roads along the 
north side of University 
Avenue 

On both sides of said frontage road from the east curb line of Valley Park Drive 
east to the end of said frontage road at the entrance to the Holiday Inn Motel. 

 On the south side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) from the south curb line 
of West 31st Street (UNI Institutional Road), west to the end of said frontage 
road (Dakota Street). On both sides of frontage road from the west curb line of 
Ohio Street (UNI Institutional Road) west to the east curb line of Hudson Road. 

 On both sides of the frontage road along the north side of University Avenue 
between Main Street and Tremont Street, from the most westerly curb cut on 
said frontage road, west to the end of said frontage road. 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019; Ord. No. 2991, §§ 1, 2, 6-7-2021; Ord. No. 3013, § 1, 7-18-2022; Ord. No. 3017, § 
1, 10-3-2022)  

Sec. 23-379. Limited parking on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the following streets or portions of 
streets for a period longer than the time limit specified in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

Frontage roads along the 
north side of University 
Avenue 

On the north side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) from 35 feet southwest 
of the south curb line of West 31st Street (UNI Institutional Road), west to the 
end of said frontage road (Dakota Street), parking shall be limited to a 90-
minute period.  

(Ord. No. 2962, § 1, 2-3-2020) 

 

96

Item 7.



 
 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3039 

 
AN ORDINANCE (1) AMENDING SECTION 23-374, PARKING PROHIBITED 
ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, 
STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY STRIKING THE UNNUMBERED SUBSECTION 
ENTITLED “FRONTAGE ROADS ALONG THE NORTH SIDE OF 
UNIVERSITY AVENUE” , AND ENACTING A NEW UNNUMBERED 
SUBSECTION OF THE SAME TITLE; AND (2) AMENDING SECTION 23-379, 
LIMITED PARKING ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 
OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, 
TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA,  BY ADDING A NEW UNNUMBERED 
SUBSECTION ENTITLED “FRONTAGE ROADS ALONG THE NORTH SIDE 
OF UNIVERSITY AVENUE” ALLOWING LIMITED PARKING ON PORTIONS 
OF THE FRONTAGE ROAD (DAKOTA STREET) ALONG THE NORTH SIDE 
OF UNIVERSITY AVENUE. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. The unnumbered subsection entitled “Frontage roads along the north side 
of University Avenue” in Section 23-374, Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets, of 
Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, 
Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
is hereby stricken in its entirety and a new unnumbered subsection of the same title is 
enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 
 

Street Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Frontage roads along 
the north side of 
University Avenue 

On both sides of said frontage road from the east curb 
line of Valley Park Drive east to the end of said frontage 
road at the entrance to the Holiday Inn Motel. 

 On the south side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) 
from the south curb line of West 31st Street (UNI 
Institutional Road), west to the end of said frontage 
road (Dakota Street.)  

On both sides of the frontage road along the north side 
of University Avenue between Main Street and Tremont 
Street, from the most westerly curb cut on said frontage 
road, west to the end of said frontage road. 

 

97

Item 7.



2 

 

Section 2.  Section 23-379, Limited parking on specific streets, of Division 1, 
Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and 
Motor Vehicles, is hereby amended by adding a new unnumbered subsection, entitled 
“Frontage roads along the north side of University Avenue”, as follows: 
 

Street Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Frontage roads along the 
north side of University 
Avenue 

On the north side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) 
from 35 feet southwest of the south curb line of West 
31st Street (UNI Institutional Road), west to the end of 
said frontage road (Dakota Street), parking shall be 
limited to a 90-minute period  

 
 
INTRODUCED:     August 7, 2023  
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   August 7, 2023  
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:       
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:       
 
ADOPTED:          
 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

98

Item 7.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, E.I., Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 7, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Update to City Code Section 23-231 – Through Streets Designated 
 
 
Submitted for council approval is the ordinance change regarding Center Street through 
street designation. 
 
The intended street crossing at Center Street and Lone Tree will be marked with a 4-
way stop after Council Decision following committee of the whole meeting on July 17th, 
2023.  
 
After conducting a traffic study, the engineering department recommended adding 
additional signage for the existing 2-way stop intersection. City Council then voted 
instead to change the Lone Tree and Center Street intersection to a 4-way stop.  
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-231 – Through 
Streets Designated so the code matches the changes that have been decided. Please 
see the attached changes for City Code Section 23-231 – Through Streets Designated.  
 
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask.  
 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  

99

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 1 of 5 

Sec. 23-231. Through streets designated. 

The following streets and parts of streets are hereby declared to be through streets:  

 Street  Portion of Street  
Designated as Arterial  

Through Street  

First Street  From Main Street west to the city limits.  

Second Street  From Iowa Street to Hudson Road, except for Walnut 
Street and Division Street.  

Fourth Street  From Franklin Street west to Pheasant Drive, except at 
Walnut Street, at Hudson Road, and at its intersection 
With Angie Drive and Holmes Drive.  

Sixth Street  From Main Street west to Sartori Hospital, except at 
Franklin Street.  

Seventh Street (West)  At the intersection of Division Street.  
  At the intersection of Franklin Street.  

Eighth Street (West)  From College Street west to Hudson Road, except at 
Division Street.  

 At the intersection of Barrington Drive.  
  At the intersection of Franklin Street.  

Ninth Street  From College Street west to the west line of Division 
Street, except at Division Street.  

Tenth Street  From College Street west to the west line of Division 
Street, except at Division Street.  

11th Street  From College Street west to the end of College Street, 
except at Division Street.  

12th Street (East)  From Main Street east to the end of 12th Street (East).  

12th Street (West)  From Main Street west to the city limits, except at 
Walnut Street, College Street, Hudson Road and Union 
Road.  

13th Street (East)  From Waterloo Road to Main Street east to Waterloo 
Road.  

14th Street (East)  From Main Street east to Waterloo Road.  

18th Street  From Waterloo Road west to Hudson Road, except at 
Main Street and College Street.  

19th Street (West)  From College Street to Hudson Road, except at its two 
intersections with Merner Avenue.  

22nd Street  From Main Street to Campus Street, except at Walnut 
Street and College Street.  

100

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 2 of 5 

23rd Street (West)  From College Street to Hudson Road, except at Campus 
Street.  

27th Street  From Main Street west to College Street, and from 
Hudson Road west to the city limits.  

Barnett Drive  From West Fourth Street to West 12th Street.  

Belle Avenue  From Rainbow Drive to Waterloo Road.  

Bergstrom Boulevard  From South Main Street Road to South Lawn Road, 
except at South Main Street and South Lawn Road.  

Big Woods Road  From Independence Avenue to the north city limits, 
except at Lake Street and Dunkerton Road.  

Boulder Drive  From Orchard Drive to University Avenue.  

Briarwood Drive  From Orchard Drive south and east to Orchard Hill Drive.  

Campus Street  From West 18th Street to the south line of West 23rd 
Street.  

Carlton Drive  From Orchard Drive to Maplewood Drive.  
  From Orchard Drive south to Briarwood Drive.  

Cedar Heights Drive  From Rainbow Drive south to the south city limits, 
except at University Avenue.  

Center Street  From First Street to the north city limits.  From First 
Street to north city limits, except at Lone Tree Road. 

Clay Street  From First Street to 18th Street, except at Second Street, 
Third Street, Sixth Street and 12th Street.  

College Street  From Sixth Street to end of street south of 29th Street, 
except at 12th Street, 18th Street and University 
Avenue.  

Crescent Drive  From Highland Drive west to the end of said Crescent 
Drive.  

Division Street  From First Street to 12th Street, except at Fourth Street, 
Eighth Street, Ninth Street, Tenth Street and 11th Street.  

Dunkerton Road  From Center Street to the east city limits.  

Eastpark Road  From Orchard Drive south and east to Briarwood Drive.  

Ellen Street (North)  From First Street north to South Park Road.  

Enterprise Drive  From Viking Road to Chancellor Drive.  

Franklin Street  From First Street south to University Avenue, except at 
Sixth Street, 12th Street, 18th Street and Seerley 
Boulevard.  

Grand Boulevard  From Waterloo Road to the intersection at Galloway 
Avenue, except at Edwards Street and Park Drive.  

Grant Street  From Jefferson Street east to McKinley Street.  

101

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 3 of 5 

Hawthorne Drive  From Waterloo Road east to Neola Street, except at 
Rownd Street.  

Highland Drive  From First Street to Fourth Street.  

Hudson Road  From First Street south to the city limits, except at 
University Drive.  

Independence Avenue  From Lincoln Street to Big Woods Road, except at the 
intersection of the railroad tracks which cross 
Independence Avenue.  

Knoll Ridge Drive  From Orchard Drive south to Briarwood Drive.  

Lake Street  From Central Avenue to Leversee Road, except at Big 
Woods Road.  

Laurinda Drive  From Orchard Drive south to Elmridge Drive.  

Lantz (East)  From Center Street to Jackson Avenue.  

Leversee Road  From Lincoln Street to the north city limits, except at the 
intersection of the railroad tracks which cross 
Independence Avenue, and except at Dunkerton Road.  

Lilac Lane  From Rownd Street to Boulder Drive, except at McClain 
Drive.  

Lincoln Street  From the city limits to North Main Street.  

Lone Tree Road  From Ford Road to Big Woods Road, except at Center 
Street.  

  Lone Tree Road from Ford Road to Leversee Road, 
except at Center Street.  

Longview (East)  From Central Avenue to Center Street.  

Madison Street  From Valley Park Drive to Waterloo Road.  

Main Street  From its intersection with North Main Street and Lincoln 
Street to University Avenue.  

Main Street (North)  From its intersection with Lincoln Street and Main Street 
to Independence Avenue.  

Main Street Road (South)  From University Avenue to the south city limits, except 
at Ridgeway Avenue.  

Maplewood Drive  From Rownd Street to Boulder Drive, except at McClain 
Drive and Carlton Drive.  

McClain Drive  From University Avenue to its southerly limit, except at 
Orchard Drive.  

Newman Avenue  From Waterloo Road east to Gibson Street.  

Orchard Drive  From South Main Street to the east city limits, except at 
Rownd Street and Cedar Heights Drive (South).  

Pleasant Drive  From Rownd Street east to the city limits, except at 
Cedar Heights Drive.  

102

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 4 of 5 

Rainbow Drive  From Waterloo Road to the east city limits.  

Ridgeway Avenue  From the east city limits to the west city limits, except at 
Hudson Road.  

Rownd Street  From Rainbow Drive south to the city limits, except at 
University Avenue and Hawthorne Drive.  

Scenic Street  From University Avenue to Pleasant Drive.  

Seerley Boulevard  From Main Street to College Street and from Main 
Street east to Royal Drive, except at Valley Park Drive.  

South Lawn Road  At its intersection with Bergstrom Boulevard.  
  At the intersection of Bergstrom Boulevard and at the 

intersection of Stanwood Drive.  

State Street  From East 13th Street to the intersection of First Street.  

Sunset Boulevard  At the intersection of Willow Lane  

Tremont Street  From West 9th Street to West 12th Street.  
  From West 20th Street to West 22nd Street.  

Tucson Drive  From the north line of University Avenue to the south 
line of Orchard Drive.  

Union Road  From the south city limits to the north city limits, except 
at Dike Road, West 27th Street, West 12th Street and 
West First Street.  

University Drive  From the east city limits to the west city limits, except at 
Hudson Road.  

U.S. Highway 20  From the east city limits to the west city limits.  

Valley High Drive  From Rownd Street to Cedar Heights Drive.  

Valley Park Drive  From University Avenue north to East 18th Street, 
except at East Seerley Boulevard.  

Veralta Drive  From University Avenue to Green Hill Road, except at 
Valley High Drive and Orchard Drive.  

Victory Drive  From Waterloo Road north to Rainbow Drive, except at 
Hawthorne Drive.  

Walnut Street  From First Street to the end of the street south of 29th 
Street, except at Sixth Street, 12th Street, 18th Street, 
Seerley Boulevard and University Avenue.  

Washington Street  From First Street to 18th Street, except at Sixth Street 
and 12th Street.  

Waterloo Road  From University Avenue to Main Street.  

Western (East)  From Central Avenue to Jackson Avenue.  

 

(Code 2017, § 26-170; Ord. No. 1929, § 1, 1-2-1991; Ord. No. 1973, § 1, 5-11-1992; Ord. No. 1997, § 2, 10-19-1992; 
Ord. No. 2070, § 3, 11-14-1994; Ord. No. 2104, § 1, 5-8-1995; Ord. No. 2116, § 1, 9-11-1995; Ord. No. 2295, § 1, 3-

103

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 5 of 5 

27-2000; Ord. No. 2311, § 1, 10-23-2000; Ord. No. 2384, § 1, 7-8-2002; Ord. No. 2390, § 1, 8-12-2002; Ord. No. 
2407, § 1, 12-9-2002; Ord. No. 2441, § 1, 8-11-2003; Ord. No. 2494, § 1, 11-15-2004; Ord. No. 2511, §§ 1, 2, 4-11-
2005; Ord. No. 2512, §§ 1—3, 4-11-2005; Ord. No. 2514, § 1, 4-11-2005; Ord. No. 2574, § 1, 5-22-2006; Ord. No. 
2863, § 1, 5-16-2016; Ord. No. 2970, § 1, 10-5-2020) 

 

104

Item 8.



 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3040 
 

AN ORDINANCE MAINTAINING CENTER STREET AS AN ARTERIAL THROUGH 
STREET FROM FIRST STREET TO THE NORTH CITY LIMITS, BUT ADDING AN 
EXCEPTION AT LONE TREE ROAD BY STRIKING THE UNNUMBERED SUBSECTION 
ENTITLED CENTER STREET AND CORRESPONDING DESIGNATION IN SECTION 
23-231, THROUGH STREETS DESIGNATED, OF DIVISION 3, RIGHT-OF-WAY, OF 
ARTICLE III, OPERATION, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA,  AND 
ENACTING A NEW UNNUMBERED SUBSECTION ENTITLED CENTER STREET AND 
CORRESPONDING  DESIGNATION IN LIEU THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 
Section 1. The unnumbered Subsection entitled Center Street and corresponding designation, of 

Section 23-231, Through Streets Designated, of Division 3, Right-of-Way, of Article III, Operation, of 
Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and a new unnumbered subsection entitled Center Street, and 
corresponding designation, are hereby enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

Street                                                                  Portion of Street                                                                        

Designated as Arterial                                                                           

Through Street 

                   Center Street                                             From First Street to the north city limits, except at 

Lone Tree Road. 

 
 
INTRODUCED:     August 7, 2023    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   August 7, 2023    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:        
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:        
 
ADOPTED:           
 
 
 

 
_____________________________ 

                                                                             Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

105

Item 8.



  
 

MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

August 7, 2023 
 

The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:20 p.m. on August 7, 2023, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Councilmembers Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon 
Harding, Daryl Kruse, Dustin Ganfield, Gil Schultz, and Dave Sires. Staff members from all City 
Departments and members of the community attended in person.   
 
Finance & Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee, Retiring/Expiring TIF Districts and Process of Releasing Funds, and 
introduced Finance and Business Operations Director, Jennifer Rodenbeck. Director Rodenbeck 
explained that on May 1, 2023, Council motioned to refer discussion of retiring or expiring tax 
increment financing (TIF) districts and the process of releasing funds to the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee. Director Rodenbeck presented the process for TIF certifications, timing of 
TIF reporting, the five active TIF districts, projects, revenues, and expiration dates for each active 
TIF district, as well as the benefits of utilizing TIFs. Councilmembers and staff discussed: inflation 
value, expiration on TIFs, incentives in a TIF district, base values and removing properties from 
within a TIF, and the Economic Development fund.  
 
 
Public Works Committee: 
Chair Schultz called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Public Works 
Committee Agenda, Pedestrian Crosswalks on University Avenue, Center Street, and 12th Street, 
and introduced City Engineer, David Wicke. Mr. Wicke explained that on February 6, 2023, Council 
motioned to refer discussion of pedestrian crosswalks at University Avenue and Center Street to 
the Public Works Committee. Mr. Wicke provided four different types of crosswalks and their 
criteria, current locations and benefits of Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons (RRFBs), as well as 
the data collection analysis for RRFB placement at Center Street, University Avenue, and 12th 
Street. Mr. Wicke stated that 12th Street at Quail Ridge requirements were not met for the following 
items: use as an interim measure for a RRFB, crash data supports use and minimum volumes, 
number of vehicles and speed. Mr. Wicke stated the City recommends installation of “Pedestrian 
Crossing Ahead” signs on 12th Street. Councilmembers and staff discussed: flashing light patterns, 
length of flash time, color of lights on RRFBs, flashing speed limit signs, and school crossing 
determinations. Chair Shultz called for public comment. Dan Pickar, Cedar Falls; expressed 
concern for the speed limit at 12th Street at Quail Ridge, stating the danger of the posted speed 
limit in regard to pedestrian crossing. Mr. Wicke provided results of the 2022 speed study for 12th 
Street.. Councilmembers and staff discussed: speed limit determinations and further explanation of 
Mr. Wicke’s recommendations and reasoning for alternative signage on 12th Street. Councilman 
Harding inquired about a 24-hour camera study of the 12th Street intersection for an additional 
pedestrian count. Mr. Wicke stated the installation of signs and pavement markings will be 
completed in future at 12th Street at Quail Ridge.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:45 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Shianne Bellinger, Administrative Assistant 

106

Item 9.



107

Item 10.



108

Item 11.



109

Item 11.



110

Item 11.



111

Item 11.



112

Item 11.



113

Item 11.



114

Item 11.



115

Item 11.



116

Item 11.



117

Item 11.



118

Item 11.



119

Item 11.



120

Item 11.



121

Item 11.



122

Item 11.



123

Item 11.



124

Item 11.



125

Item 11.



126

Item 11.



127

Item 11.



128

Item 11.



129

Item 11.



130

Item 11.



131

Item 11.



132

Item 11.



133

Item 11.



134

Item 11.



135

Item 11.



136

Item 11.



137

Item 11.



138

Item 11.



139

Item 11.



140

Item 11.



141

Item 11.



142

Item 11.



143

Item 11.



144

Item 11.



145

Item 11.



146

Item 11.



147

Item 11.



148

Item 11.



149

Item 11.



150

Item 11.



151

Item 11.



152

Item 11.



153

Item 11.



154

Item 11.



155

Item 11.



156

Item 11.



157

Item 11.



158

Item 11.



159

Item 11.



160

Item 11.



161

Item 11.



162

Item 11.



163

Item 11.



164

Item 11.



165

Item 11.



166

Item 11.



167

Item 11.



168

Item 11.



169

Item 11.



170

Item 11.



171

Item 11.



172

Item 11.



173

Item 11.



174

Item 11.



175

Item 11.



176

Item 11.



177

Item 11.



178

Item 11.



179

Item 11.



180

Item 11.



181

Item 11.



182

Item 11.



183

Item 11.



184

Item 11.



185

Item 11.



186

Item 11.



187

Item 11.



188

Item 11.



189

Item 11.



190

Item 11.



191

Item 11.



192

Item 11.



193

Item 11.



194

Item 11.



195

Item 11.



196

Item 11.



197

Item 11.



198

Item 11.



199

Item 11.



200

Item 11.



201

Item 11.



202

Item 11.



203

Item 11.



204

Item 11.



205

Item 11.



206

Item 11.



207

Item 11.



208

Item 11.



209

Item 11.



210

Item 11.



211

Item 11.



212

Item 11.



213

Item 11.



214

Item 11.



215

Item 11.



216

Item 11.



217

Item 11.



218

Item 11.



219

Item 11.



220

Item 11.



221

Item 11.



222

Item 11.



223

Item 11.



224

Item 11.



225

Item 11.



226

Item 11.



227

Item 11.



228

Item 11.



229

Item 11.



230

Item 11.



231

Item 11.



232

Item 11.



233

Item 11.



234

Item 11.



235

Item 11.



236

Item 11.



237

Item 11.



238

Item 11.



239

Item 11.



240

Item 11.



241

Item 11.



242

Item 11.



243

Item 11.



244

Item 11.



245

Item 11.



246

Item 11.



247

Item 11.



248

Item 11.



249

Item 11.



250

Item 11.



251

Item 11.



252

Item 11.



253

Item 11.



254

Item 11.



255

Item 11.



256

Item 11.



257

Item 11.



258

Item 11.



259

Item 11.



260

Item 11.



261

Item 11.



262

Item 11.



263

Item 11.



264

Item 11.



265

Item 11.



266

Item 11.



267

Item 11.



268

Item 11.



269

Item 11.



270

Item 11.



271

Item 11.



272

Item 11.



273

Item 11.



274

Item 11.



275

Item 11.



276

Item 11.



277

Item 11.



278

Item 11.



279

Item 11.



280

Item 11.



281

Item 11.



282

Item 11.



283

Item 11.



284

Item 11.



285

Item 11.



286

Item 11.



287

Item 11.



288

Item 11.



289

Item 11.



290

Item 11.



291

Item 11.



292

Item 11.



293

Item 11.



294

Item 11.



295

Item 11.



296

Item 11.



297

Item 11.



298

Item 11.



299

Item 11.



300

Item 11.



301

Item 11.



302

Item 11.



303

Item 11.



304

Item 11.



305

Item 11.



306

Item 11.



307

Item 11.



308

Item 11.



309

Item 11.



310

Item 11.



311

Item 11.



312

Item 11.



313

Item 11.



314

Item 11.



315

Item 11.



316

Item 11.



317

Item 11.



318

Item 11.



319

Item 11.



320

Item 11.



321

Item 11.



322

Item 11.



323

Item 11.



324

Item 11.



325

Item 11.



326

Item 11.



327

Item 11.



328

Item 11.



329

Item 11.



330

Item 11.



331

Item 11.



332

Item 11.



333

Item 11.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  August 14, 2023 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Whiskey Road Tavern & Grill, 402 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

b) B & B West, 3105 Hudson Road, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

c) Panther Travel Center, 1525 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

d) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
– temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (September 2-3, 2023) 

e) Metro Mart, 103 Franklin Street, Class E retail alcohol - new. 

 

334

Item 12.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Chase Schrage, Director, Public Works Department 

 DATE: August 11, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Local Option Sales Tax 

 
 Enclosed is a resolution for the local option sales tax for the purpose of street 
reconstruction and rehabilitation to begin January 1, 2026. The current program is set to 
expire on December 31, 2025. This resolution would be to continue with option tax 
program beginning January 1, 2026 until repealed. The local option sales tax has been 
a proven method for Cedar Falls to continually stay ahead of our degrading 
infrastructure.  
 
The local option says tax began in 1991 and without this program, the City will be forced 
into alternative options for infrastructure repair. These options may include the use of 
property taxes to make repairs (bond sales) or rely on special assessments to the 
adjacent property owners. This program has received strong support from voters over 
the last 30 years. 
 
The Department of Public Works recommends that the City Council approve this 
resolution for the continuation of the local options sales tax. Let me know if you have 
any questions. 
 
 
  
 

335

Item 14.



RESOLUTION NO. _______ 
 

RESOLUTION CALLING FOR A PUBLIC REFERENDUM TO AUTHORIZE THE IMPOSITION OF A 
LOCAL SALES AND SERVICES TAX IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

AT THE RATE OF ONE PERCENT (1%), TO BE EFFECTIVE ON JANUARY 1, 2026 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 423B of the 2023 Code of Iowa authorizes the imposition of certain local 
option taxes after an election in which the majority of the electors vote in the affirmative, and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa declares its intent to hold a 
special county-wide election for the purpose of permitting the electorate to pass upon the proposition 
of imposing a one percent (1%) local sales and services tax for Black Hawk County according 
Chapter 423B.1(3)(b) of the 2023 Code of Iowa. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa: 
 
Section 1.  That the County Commissioner of Elections of Black Hawk County is hereby 

directed to give notice of submitting to the voters of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, for November 7, 
2023, the following proposition: 

 
“To authorize the imposition of a local sales and services tax in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
at the rate of one percent (1%), to be effective on January 1, 2026, until repealed.” 
 
Section 2.  That revenue from the local sales and services tax is to be allocated in the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa as follows: 
 
Zero percent (0%) of said local sales and services tax is to be used for property tax relief. 
 
One hundred percent (100%) of the revenue generated in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa during 
each fiscal year from said local sales and services tax is to be allocated for 
reconstruction/repair/replacement of existing streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers and 
sanitary sewers as they relate to streets within the corporate limits of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the funds received from the local sales and services tax 

are to be considered additional funds to be allocated for reconstruction/repair/replacement of existing 
streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers and sanitary sewers as they relate to streets within the 
corporate limits of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and not as replacement funds for the present funding 
levels as authorized by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to provide 

a certified copy of this Resolution to the County Commissioner of Elections of Black Hawk County and 
to the Board of Supervisors of Black Hawk County. 
 

ADOPTED this 21st day of August, 2023 

                                                                                                                                   
____________________________ 

                                                                                      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

336

Item 14.



August 8, 2023

Jacque Danielsen
City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
RE:  Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID)

Dear Ms. Danielsen:

The downtown SSMID was originally established in 1987 with the purpose to provide funding
for Community Main Street, Inc. (CMS). Downtown property owners have opted to renew
SSMID, as required by the State statue, every five years since inception with the intent to
continue financial support of CMS.   

Under the provisions for the SSMID district established for the period of July 1, 2022 and ending
June 30, 2027. Cedar Falls Community Main Street is responsible to determine the SSMID
millage rate each year. CMS would propose that the SSMID collected for the FY2025 at the rate
of $3.89 per $1000 of assessed property value for commercial properties within the district.
This rate provides funding equal to the previous SSMID period.   

During the budgeting period for FY2025, CMS will review this financial position in relationship to
an anticipated commercial property tax rollback to determine the millage rate for collection
during that fiscal time-frame. Going forward, we will annually assess the rate as required by the
SSMID ordinance ending June 30, 2027. 
 
Please feel free to contact me at 277-0213 if you have any questions. Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

C E D A R  F A L L S  C O M M U N I T Y  M A I N  S T R E E T ,  I N C .  I S  A  V O L U N T E E R - D R I V E N ,  N O N - P R O F I T
O R G A N I Z A T I O N  E S T A B L I S H E D  T O  F O S T E R  E C O N O M I C  V I T A L I T Y ,  A N D  T O  P R E S E R V E  A N D

P R O M O T E  T H E  H I S T O R I C  I M A G E  A N D  C H A R A C T E R  O F  T H E  D O W N T O W N ,  W H I L E
I M P R O V I N G  T H E  Q U A L I T Y  O F  L I F E  I N  C E D A R  F A L L S .

3 1 0  E .  4 T H  S T R E E T ,  C E D A R  F A L L S ,  I A  5 0 6 1 3      
 D I R E C T O R @ C O M M U N I T Y M A I N S T R E E T . O R G  -  3 1 9 . 2 7 7 . 0 2 1 3

Kim Bear
Executive Director
Community Main Street 

2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4
B O A R D  O F  
D I R E C T O R S :

B R E N T  J O H N S O N ,  P R E S
K A T E  D U N N I N G
A N N  E A S T M A N
L E X I E  H E A T H
D E A N N A  H O F F M A N N
C O R Y  K E N T
J E N N Y  L E E P E R
D A N  L Y N C H
E M I L E E  N E D O B A
H E L E N  P E A R C E
L A U R E N  R I E N S C H E
M A R K  S H O W A L T E R
B R A D  S T R O U S E
E X - O F F I C I O
W Y N E T T E  F R O E H N E R
S T E P H A N I E  S H E E T Z

337

Item 15.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: August 14, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Wayne Estates, LLC – Acceptance of Warranty Deed and Termination of 
Agreement for Private Development 

 
 
On February 21, 2022, City Council approved an Agreement for Private Development 
with Wayne Estates, LLC to construct a new 16,000 square foot building for a 
warehouse/office facility to be located along Technology Parkway within the West Viking 
Road Industrial Park (see attached map). The terms of the Agreement called for the City 
to donate a 2.14-acre lot to Wayne Estates, LLC, in exchange for the developer to 
construct a building with a minimum assessed tax valuation of $2,225,000. 
 
The Agreement indicated a completion date of the project of June 1, 2023. The 
developer has indicated to City staff that due to financial reasons, the project will not 
move forward at this time. Therefore, Wayne Estates, LLC is requesting to terminate the 
approved Agreement for Private Development and Minimum Assessment Agreement 
and to deed the 2.14-acre property back to the City. 
 
Attached is a Termination of Agreement for Private Development, which was drafted by 
the developer’s attorney and reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers. Also attached is a 
proposed deed to the property, which was found to be acceptable by City Attorney 
Rogers. A title opinion and title report for the property have been provided to the City, 
which finds that the property to be deeded back to the City will be done so free and 
clear of any liens or encumbrances. 
 
It is recommended that City Council accept the Warranty Deed from Wayne Estates, 
LLC, and approve the Termination of Agreement for Private Development with Wayne 
Estates, LLC.  
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

338

Item 16.



Venture Way

Capital Way

Technology Pkwy

Tec
hn

ol o
gy

Pl

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Production Dr

I

Hawkeye
Corrugated

Box

Ashley
Furniture

Distribution
Center

Project Location

Wayne Estates, LLC
16,000 sq. ft.
Warehouse/Office Facility

Bossard

D. LaPorte Air King

Zuidberg

339

Item 16.



340

Item 16.



341

Item 16.



342

Item 16.



343

Item 16.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

  

 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council 

 FROM: Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor 

 DATE: August 3, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Cedar Falls Community Foundation - Diamond Arts and History grant 

award 

 
On August 1, the Hearst Center was awarded $3,000 from the Cedar Falls Community 
Foundation through the Diamond Arts and History grant opportunity. Our request focused on 
supporting expenses related to developing a mobile “Culture and Art Tour” to educate citizens 
and visitors about the City’s Public Art Collection, the Hearst’s Sculpture Garden, and to design 
games and quizzes for youth to explore and learn about local art.  We plan to pilot this new 
engagement tool in 2024 in time for the spring/summer tourism season. 
 
The grant does have a match requirement. Friends of the Hearst holds an annual allocation in 
memory of Clara Trapp to be used for marketing/advertising, and we will use up to $1,000 from 
the Trapp fund for marketing this new mobile tour program.  We will seek funds from the Public 
Art Committee for signage updates if needed for Public Art on display around the city. The 
remaining match will come from in-kind staff time. 
 
The Cedar Falls Community Foundation’s Diamond Arts & History Fund provides an annual 
opportunity to apply for monetary support for interactive and multisensory projects in the arts or 
the history of Cedar Falls. 
 
 
Staff requests approval of the grant agreement. Please reach out if you have any questions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CC: Jennifer Pickar, Tourism and Cultural Programs Manager 

Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director 

344

Item 17.



Cory Hurless James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts

Printed On: 9 August 2023 2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund 1

Cedar Falls Art & Culture Mobile Tour
2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund

James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts
304 W. Seerley Blvd.
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

heather.skeens@cedarfalls.com
O: 319-273-8641

Cory  Hurless  
304 West Seerley Boulevard
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

cory.hurless@cedarfalls.com
O: 319-273-8641

345

Item 17.



Cory Hurless James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts

Printed On: 9 August 2023 2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund 2

Application Form

Application - Diamond Arts & History Fund
The form saves automatically and need not be completed in one sitting.  There is also a save button at the bottom 
of the page.  The site does time out if not used for 90 minutes.

Project Name* 
Cedar Falls Art & Culture Mobile Tour

Applicant Organization's Mission Statement* 
What is the mission of the applicant organization?

The Hearst Center opens doors to the humanities and creative arts.

Who is the project/program manager?  Include contact information.* 
Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor
319-268-5550
cory.hurless@cedarfalls.com

What is the project/program manager's role in the applicant organization?* 
I serve as the Director of the Hearst Center for the Arts, working in the Tourism & Cultural Programs Division 
within the City of Cedar Falls.  I oversee the Hearst's facilities, operations, programs, and staff.  I direct the 
annual program of art exhibits, events, education, marketing, and finance/development for the organization.

Describe Project/Program Manager's qualifications to lead this project/program.* 
I have been an art director and curator for approximately 9 years, in my last role as art director for the City of 
Austin's airport art and music programs I developed and launched wayfinding and mobile art tours for the 
Austin-Bergstrom International Airport.  For those projects, I was the lead on procuring a vendor, developing 
app navigation and architecture, creating graphics and writing text.  I storyboarded and developed multiple 
art tours on the app, children's interactive activities such as scavenger hunts and quizzes.  I crafted the 
project schedule and launch timeline, worked with staff on media talking points, promotion and advertising 
for the public roll-out of the new tech.  I oversaw the production of how-to videos to teach the public how to 
utilize the apps, which were launched on the company website, YouTube, and social media outlets.  I also 
oversaw the maintenance of the apps after launch, wrote a policy and procedure manual for keeping up with 
content.  I monitored public engagement through analytics provided by the vendor.

Board Approval* 
Upload board minutes or other documentation confirming that this grant application has approval of the governing 
body of applicant's organization.

ACB 062823 Minutes.docx

346

Item 17.



Cory Hurless James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts

Printed On: 9 August 2023 2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund 3

IRS Determination Letter* 
Upload applicant organization's IRS determination letter of non-profit status.  If IRS determination letter is not 
available, upload a letter from an officer of applicant organization explaining the organization's non-profit status.

CityCFW9.pdf

If not a 501(c)(3) 
If applicant organization is NOT a 501(c)(3) or government organization, explain how the project/program legally 
qualifies as a charitable purpose.

The Hearst is part of the City of Cedar Falls Community Development Department, a local government entity.

990* 
Upload applicant organization's most recently filed 990 tax return.  If the organization is not required to file form 
990, attach a copy of its most recent fiscal year end financial statement that has been approved by its governing 
body.

2023 Budget Report.pdf

Total Amount Requested* 
If the total requested is to be paid out over more than one year, please indicate below.

$3,000.00

Duration of grant* 
Over how many years would the total amount requested be paid out?

One Year

Project/Program Budget* 
Upload a budget for the project/program, including:

• Expenses by category and amount

• Funding sources by category and amount

• For each funding source, if not yet secured, indicate  progress toward securing funding

• Identify the specific part(s) of this program/project that would be funded by this grant or if this is general 
support.

CedarFallsArt&CultureMobileTour_Grant Budget.xlsx

Budget Narrative* 
Is there anything else about the budget you want to tell us?
Please verify that no one associated with the project/program is a recipient of funds in payment of goods or 
services.

Confirmed, no one associated with the project/program is a recipient of funds in payment of goods or 
services for this project.

347

Item 17.



Cory Hurless James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts

Printed On: 9 August 2023 2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund 4

Project/Program Description* 
Purpose of the project/program: goals and objectives.
How will it serve the people of Cedar Falls?
What is the target audience and estimated number of people who will be served or impacted by the project?
What is the anticipated impact?
How will success be measured?
How is this project consistent with the purpose of the fund to which you are applying?

As part of our ongoing efforts to draw attention to the Art & Culture programs in Cedar Falls, provide an 
accessible resource for arts education, and increase engagement with our prolific public art collection and 
Hearst Sculpture Garden; we wish to develop a mobile-friendly art tour. This project was spurred on by 
public comments and interest in having such a resource, and was one of my first suggestions for marketing 
and communications improvements at the Hearst.  In my professional past, I have led the development of 
virtual art tours using different platforms – from utilizing in-house staff to design website landing pages to 
building apps.  I learned through my experiences in this realm that the most important feature of a successful 
cellphone tour is having professionally designed navigation architecture for your tour – so that it is easy for 
the end-user to click/touch around the platform to explore and find what they want.  In 2019 I worked with 
an outside vendor called Engage by Cell to develop a public art, gallery, and music performance mobile tour 
for my previous employer – including scavenger hunts and quizzes for youth and adult audiences.  The launch 
campaign and mobile tour I developed was successful, creating interest in self-guided tours – including 
interest from school groups to use the tours in their programming.  The platform provided audiences with 
wayfinding options to better locate where public art was situated around the city. 
Our goal with this pilot project is to develop a CF Public Art mobile tour and selfie scavenger hunt, Hearst 
Sculpture garden scavenger hunt, and art quizzes for youth over the fall of 2023.  We will also create signage 
for all the public artworks with a QR code so that users can easily connect to the tours, and design a social 
media campaign to advertise the new offerings.  A soft launch of the mobile tour will take place in the new 
year 2024, with the largest advertising effort to take place in spring/summer for the height of tourism and 
travel to the area.
The Engage by Cell platform allows users to take surveys to gage satisfaction and feedback. Users can also 
connect selfies to Facebook, where we can see if people are engaging with the programming.  The platform 
provides back-end analytics to see how many users engage with each cell phone tour.  A current metric to 
measure against to see if the mobile tour is successful will be comparing this new data with our average 
sculpture garden monthly attendance (250 persons per month yearly average).  Currently there is no way to 
accurately ascertain engagement with public artwork located outside of the Hearst property, so we are 
hopeful that this tool will provide a benchmark to analyze what the public responds positively to.  The data 
may aid in future decisions of where to place public art in the city of Cedar Falls.  If after the pilot period, end 
of summer 2024, we find fewer end users than we clock-in at the Hearst Sculpture Garden, we will evaluate 
continuing the program for another year.  We have high hopes in the pilot’s success, expanding the mobile 
tour offerings to other private/public entities, the trail systems, and seeking continued funding for the 
continuation of the Art & Culture Mobile Tour once we have the data to present that the program is successful 
and a positive return on investment.
We hope this project will bring attention to the City’s art collection and the Hearst, and help bolster the 
community’s view of the Hearst as our hub for local and regional art. We would like to utilize technology to 
boost interest in investing in the arts, mirroring what is done in other communities around the country.  This 
grant request does fit the purpose of the Diamond Art & History fund to stimulate lifelong learning by 
providing interactive or multi-sensory experiences in the fine arts or the history of Cedar Falls through our 
efforts to use mobile technology as an engagement and education tool, innovating the delivery of information 
outside of the walls and limited operating hours of the Hearst center to local residents and visitors via a 
method that a vast majority of the public receive and digest info any time of day/night - their phones.

348

Item 17.



Cory Hurless James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts

Printed On: 9 August 2023 2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund 5

Focus Area* 
Please choose the focus area that most closely matches the purpose and/or impact area of your project/program.

Arts & Local History

Geographic Area Served* 
Please select the geographic area your project/program will impact or enhance.

Cedar Falls

Project/Program Begin Date* 
When will the project/program begin?

11/01/2023

Project/Program End Date* 
When will the project/program be complete?

11/30/2024

Anything else? 
Is there anything else you want to tell us?

This is a pilot public engagement program, and if proven successful with quantifiable analytic data, we would 
have an excellent case to seek sponsorships or funding from other partner organizations to continue and 
expand mobile tour offerings for Cedar Falls and the greater Cedar Valley.

What if all funding is not received?* 
If this project/program does not receive all anticipated funding, will it go forward?  How will it go forward?

Without funding from the CFCF, I would need to seek alternate grant opportunities to assist with this project 
(other foundations or competitive grant applications), alternatively, I can also seek to request the additional 
funding from the Art & Culture Board and Public Art Committee, which would impact funding earmarked 
already for artist commissions through the public art fund and Capital Improvement plans for the Berg fund.  
The timeline for the project would also be impacted, and it would have to roll out later than anticipated.

Name and title of person making this request* 
Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor

349

Item 17.



Cory Hurless James & Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts

Printed On: 9 August 2023 2023 Diamond Arts & History Fund 6

File Attachment Summary
Applicant File Uploads
•   ACB 062823 Minutes.docx
•   CityCFW9.pdf
•   2023 Budget Report.pdf
•   CedarFallsArt&CultureMobileTour_Grant Budget.xlsx
 

350

Item 17.



Art & Culture Board Meeting
June 28, 2023
5:00 p.m.

Present: Toni Wilson Wood, Peter Berendzen, Matthew Wilson, Kate Brennan Hall, Cory Hurless, and members 
of the public: Matthew Hundley, Andrew Malone, Andrew Schroll, and Jon Van Allen. Also present were 
members of the Friends of the Hearst: Wendy Bowman, Dale Schrad, Sandra Luttchens-Van Allen, Mary 
Brammer, and Molly Taiber.

Meeting was called to order at 5:14 p.m.

Approval of Agenda: Motion to approve the agenda by P.Berendzen and second by M. Wilson. Motion approved.

Approval of Minutes: Motion to approve April 26 meeting and May 10 special session minutes by T. Wilson- 
Wood and second by P. Berendzen. Motion approved.

Public Comment: NA

New Business:
The nominating committee brought forth a motion to approve ACB officers, M.Wilson as the new ACB 
President, P. Berendzen as Vice President, T. Wilson-Wood as Treasurer, and L. Finke will remain Secretary. 
Motion to approve slate of officers by P. Berendzen, seconded by T. Wilson-Wood. Motion approved.

Monthly Reports:
Financial Report: M.Wilson will provide new Treasurer with information and transition log in information to continue to 
monitor financial statements. Wilson is still researching new CD options and will provide information gathered thus far 
to new Treasurer.

President’s Report: K.Brennan Hall opened up the discussion of the Master Plan presentation to the Friends of the 
Hearst Group to discuss. She asked the group what works in the Master Plan and what might need tweaking. Below are 
comments from the group: overall interesting façade in residential area public building in residential area, fine line to 
walk between elevating this gem and residential area, Impressed by façade—some public still thinks it’s just a house. 
The night time and day time presentation—glad to see it’s getting away from the ‘house’ look Curious about comments 
sent to the architect. C. Hurless has no update because they are working on adding in comments—2nd discussion will 
have to come to the board, proposed August 30 —with a price estimate for concepts. Wendy Bowman and Sandra 
Luttchens-Van Allen mentioned the Main level is public level—gallery, etc., and then classrooms and day to day creative 
below. Stairs not grand, the gallery and recital hall possible to have them connect. C. Hurless mentioned that OPN is 
working on new concept for recital hall to be with the gallery so it’s not so odd to have them not together.

What didn’t work in masterplan? Andrew Shroll mentioned the following—having recital space and gallery on same level 
with lobby.  Lobby crucial to redesign---front part of the building. Lobby as communal space before/after events, serving 
food, have enough space to be inviting, kitchen nearby, thought façade was uninviting to public walking by, gallery could 
have the design of the façade instead; move recital space upstairs, are we ok with not having a two story tall recital space, 
is it ok to give on recital height (acoustics). All on one level to make it more usable. Natural light in lobby, gallery space
Elevator/stair case inviting to where classrooms and studios are located, flow out to patio could be improved, think more 
functionally for the flow, depending on weather, time of year, etc. K. Brennan Hall—what staff person is going to be 
cleaning up the upper patio, could use space for something else, more office space, natural light for them to work in
balcony area would be out to the left in Mae Latta, not add on to this side, trade off to office space.  Dale Schrad - 
As an artist, doing a lot of travelling, visiting a lot of places—gift shop absent from masterplan—people want to take home 
a piece of the experience—a place where people can get a memory, and also a way to make some more money--
C. Hurless mentioned Gift shop would be an additional staff—if the ask is for education versus gift shop.
Dale Schrad mentioned the gift shop could bring in additional money—can we justify hiring an additional person to 
manage the gift shop, Gift shop always was an afterthought here. If we are thinking bigger we should think about 
different.  Mary Brammer asked about parking on the east side? To take the pressure off the street, people would go to 
the classrooms directly from the parking lot, so that people don’t have to go into the gallery.  She also suggested
communication with lady next door—possible to buy that property next door to assist in relieving the parking issue.

351

Item 17.



Good to keep the back area—blend the old with the new. C. Hurless mentioned—leaving what is here in the new version 
will keep the legacy of James Hearst in the Hearst. More classrooms is what we need, big ceramics studio. 12,000 sq ft 
Now, 20,000 sq ft in proposal. Friends asked C.Hurless what is the big expense besides the expansion, Hurless replied 
Expense—art storage is huge—requirements of permanent art storage is currently not being met and the micro-climate 
required involves expensive upgrades—climate control is expensive, the new area would be under the house, double the 
size of the permanent storage. M.Wilson mentioned the two artist studios, right above performance art space—glass 
doors perhaps not conducive to getting work done—should be a private space.
The group expressed concern about what direction the master plan is going in—any feedback along the way—sneak 
preview? Concepts to see if it should be priced out, would like various ideas from architects—rough sketches that the ACB 
and Friends could look at and have enough time to bring comments back in before the next iteration.
After the conclusion of this Master Plan discussion, K. Brennan Hall reported that 3 ACB applicants were interviewed by 
the ACB President, Mayor Pro Tem, and Community Development Director, 1 candidate is being interviewed by the 
mayor, and will be presented at the July 17 Council for approval.  

Supervisor’s Report: Proposed to ACB a request to apply for a CFCF Grant – the Diamond Art & History Fund to ask for 
$3,000 to pilot a new mobile culture and art tour, to promote awareness of the Public Art in Cedar Falls as well as provide 
unique education opportunities with scavenger hunts and quizzes for youth audiences.  Motion to approve by P. P. 
Berendzen, seconded by M. Wilson.  Motion approved to proceed with grant opportunity.  Hurless also reported a new 
vacancy at the Hearst, Education Coordinator Angie Hickok has accepted a full-time opportunity at the Grout Museum.  
Hurless is working with the city to post the vacancy in July.  Hurless is updating the design of the Hearst Brochures, with 
the new design roll out to occur with the upcoming fall brochure.  She updated the group on what events were happening 
at the Hearst.

Friends of the Hearst: Friends are working on organizing their annual meeting, slated for August 3.  They are also 
interviewing prospective new members.  Starting July 1, the minimum membership donation to receive discounted 
benefits through the Friends will be $50, more is always encouraged.

Public Art Committee:  Did not meet in June.

Old Business: 
Hearst bylaws committee report from M.Wilson and K. Brennan Hall: Article 1, instead of replicate what is in code, we 
reference the sections of the code, with a hyperlink to the code in the digital copy. Article 2, officers, a couple minor 
changes in responsibilities that were outdated or unneeded, added in secretary.  Next step—one more meeting to commit 
and then present to the whole board and then vote on bylaws.

Motion to move the August ACB meeting to the 5th Wednesday, August 30 for the OPN presentation.  Motion by M. 
Wilson, seconded by P.Berendzen.  Motion approved.  July ACB meeting will take place July 26.

Motion to adjourn meeting by T. Wilson-Wood, seconded by M. Wilson.  Meeting adjourned at 6:40pm.  

352

Item 17.



353

Item 17.



354

Item 17.



355

Item 17.



356

Item 17.



Cedar Falls Art & Culture Mobile Tour

Expenses Grant Funding $3,000 Project Cost-Sharing

Grant Funding Hearst Center contributions Secured In-kind contributions
 from 3rd parties Notes

Engage by Cell mobile tour platform subscription $2,750 Quote from vendor: Engage by Cell for 1 year subscription
Printing/Signage for tour touchpoints $ 250.00 $ 250.00 $ 500.00 Public Art Committee funding for sculpture signage
Marketing, Social Media Ads, print ads $ 500.00 $ 1,000.00 Friends of the Hearst and the CF Art & Culture Board = Trapp Marketing fund and Berg if needed for tourism brochure
Hearst Staff Development & Launch;  app design,
graphics, launch planning $ 5,787.50 Hurless, Drennan, Haigh, Hines
Content maintenance over program timeframe $ 458.40 Haigh

Total Project Cost

Totals $ 3,000.00 $ 6,995.90 $ 1,500.00 $ 11,495.90

357

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: August 21, 2023 

SUBJECT:  CDBG Rental-Occupied Repair change order 
 

Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) funds that support several programs, 
including housing rehabilitation and repair for income-qualifying residents.   
 
On June 5, 2023, City Council approved the contract with Daniel’s Home Improvement 
and Construction Co. to do repairs at 1009 W 3rd Street though the CDBG Rental-
Occupied Repair funds.  The City Council also approved the agreement with the 
property owners to place a five-year forgivable loan on the property.   
 
During the remodel, after the contractor removed the front stairs, there was noticeable 
damage to the siding of the house.  At further inspection, they found that there was 
damage to the foundation and a joist needs reinforcement, which will involve 
considerable additional work.  In addition, the two storm doors that were part of the 
project description in the original contract were not included in the total cost of the 
project. It will cost an additional $5,125 to complete the project.  Since this additional 
cost is over 10% of the cost of the original contract, it requires City Council’s approval.  
The detailed change order is attached.  The total cost of the project with the changeover 
is $17,128, which is well within the program’s budget. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the change order as proposed.   
 
Please contact staff with any questions.  Thank you.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

358

Item 18.



359

Item 18.



360

Item 18.



361

Item 18.



362

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

+    

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 
  Matt Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
  Brett Armstrong, EI, Engineer 

 DATE: August 21, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Ashworth North Preliminary Plat   
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve the preliminary plat for Ashworth North Subdivision, Case 
#PP23-002  
 

PETITIONER: David Nicol, developer; CGA Engineering, Engineer 
 

LOCATION: 
 

The property is located on the west side of Hudson Road across from the 
intersection of Hudson Road and Ashworth Drive. 
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The petitioner has submitted a preliminary application to subdivide approximately 2.0 acres 
into seven (7) lots. The property is located on the north side of the future extension of 
Ashworth Drive east from Prairie Winds 4th Addition to complete the connection to Hudson 
Road.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The property was part of a 3.07-acre farmstead that contained a house built in 1918. In April 
2022, the City purchased the south 0.89-acre portion of the Nicol’s property to connect 
Ashworth Drive in Prairie Winds 4th Addition eastward to Hudson Road. Ashworth Drive is a 
critical street connection in this area of the city, providing an east-west street connection from 
Greenhill Road through Greenhill Village to Hudson Road and from Hudson Road through the 
Prairie Winds Subdivision to Arbors Drive next to Aldrich Elementary School and will extend 
further west as the city expands.  The City Council approved a request to rezone this property 
from A-1 Agriculture District to R-1 Residence District on May 15, 2023.  The Council also 
approved the vacation of 1,727 square feet of right-of-way (Tract B) at the northwest corner of 
the property along Hudson Road. The Council approved a purchase agreement for Tract “A” 
on July 17, 2023, and currently the closing documents are being prepared. Once conveyed to 
the City it will become a part of the Ashworth Drive ROW, which will be reflected as such on 
the final plat. On August 21, 2023, the Council will conduct a public hearing to convey the 
vacated ROW in the NE corner of the plat (Tract B) to Mr. Nicol, which will then be 

363

Item 19.



incorporated into Lot 7 on the final plat.   
 
ANALYSIS  
The petitioner, David Nicol, proposes a preliminary plat for an approximately two (2) acre parcel 
that was created after the city purchased the southern portion of the property to build the 
extension of Ashworth Drive between Prairie Winds 4th Addition and Hudson Road.  In addition, 
the City is installing utilities along with the road construction to provide redundancies in utility 
services. The City has provided sanitary and water service hook-ups along both sides of the 
street for this development and any future development along the south side of Ashworth Drive. 
The developer will be required to extend private service lines to each lot as homes are built. The 
only remaining public infrastructure to be installed is a public sidewalk, which will be constructed 
by the developer or lot owners at the time the dwelling units are built.   

 
Tract “A” of this subdivision is being purchased by the City as part of the street and utility 
construction. Tract “B” is the right-of-way that has been vacated by the City, which Mr. Nicol has 
made an offer to the purchase. Once conveyed to Mr. Nicol, the intent is to incorporate this land 
into Lot 7 on the final plat. Staff notes that utility easements will be retained. 
 
The lots exceed the minimum lot area of 9,000 square feet for the R-1 Residence District. The 
average lot size for Ashworth North is approximately 11,950 square feet, which is similar in size 
to the adjacent lots in Prairie Winds 4th Addition. The front and rear setbacks are provided on 
the plat and are consistent with the R-1 Residence District requirement of 30 feet. The side yard 
setbacks will be determined by the lot width as per the R-1 District requirements. 
 
Regarding stormwater management, this is an infill site and to ensure surface water flows to the 

364

Item 19.



10-foot drainage easement at the rear of the lots, the City Engineer has requested the entire site 
be graded accordingly before the construction of any houses begin.  
 
The staff is working with the applicant to revise and finalize the Deed of Dedication, which will 
be approved as part of the final plat.  A draft is in the packet. The applicant has supplied the 
following required documents for a preliminary plat including the Surveyor Certificate, Black 
Hawk County Auditor approval of the subdivision name, and a soil analysis for the site.   
 
PROCESS 
Typically, approval of a preliminary plat would allow the applicant to proceed with the 
construction and installation of required public infrastructure, but because the infrastructure is 
being installed by the City, the only improvements the developer will need to complete is the site 
grading to manage stormwater prior to final platting and the installation of sidewalks as lots 
develop.   
 
No lot sales or new construction may begin until a final plat is approved by the City Council.  
Since the City is providing the public infrastructure, a final plat cannot be submitted until the 
construction the street project is near completion.    
 
NEIGHBOR NOTICE 
A courtesy notice was sent to nearby property owners was mailed on July 18, 2023. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, has noted the following: 
 
All lots shall be graded at one time before any lot is sold to ensure the drainage easement 
meets the above comments and is protected from disruption when construction take place. 
 
CFU states that water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in 
accordance with the service policies of CFU.  The developer will need to make refundable 
investments for the installation of the electric and gas utilities to and throughout the addition.  
For a ten-year period after the installation, CFU will refund a portion of the refundable 
investments based upon the number of new service connections to the electric and gas 
distribution systems.  There is no interest paid on the refundable investments and the total 
refunds will not exceed the original investment amounts.  CFU will install the communication 
utility fiber system to serve the addition.  Water will be installed as part of the City of Cedar Falls 
Ashworth Extension Project.  See attached Developer Information Sheet for detailed 
information regarding utility installations.   
 
PLANNING AND ZONING RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning found all comments related to the preliminary plat have been addressed, 
recommends approval, subject to  
 

1) Conformance to all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

 

 

 

 

365

Item 19.



PLANNING AND ZONING 

Discussion 
and  
Recommendation  
7/26/2023  

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Weintraut provided background 
information. He explained that the site is on the west side of Hudson Road and that the 
developer is seeking approval for the preliminary plat submitted. He discussed drainage 
plans, sidewalk installation, and utilities. Staff recommends approval when all preliminary 
plat comments have been addressed.  

 
Mr. Leeper made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Larson, Leeper and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 

Attachments:   Location map  

Preliminary Plat 

 

366

Item 19.



Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission

July 26, 2023

Location 

Map

Ashworth North Preliminary Plat 

Hudson Road and Ashworth Drive

Ashworth North Preliminary Plat

367

Item 19.



368

Item 19.



369

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thomas Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 
 

 DATE: August 21, 2023 

SUBJECT: Resolution to submit an application for a Hazard Mitigation Grant to purchase 
Repetitive Loss and Severe Repetitive Loss properties in Northern Cedar 
Falls 

 
 
In March 2023, The Iowa Department Homeland Security & Emergency Management 
(IDHSEM) contacted the City regarding a competitive Hazard Mitigation Grant opportunity to 
fund the purchase of three (3) repetitive loss (RL) and six (6) severe repetitive loss (SRL) 
properties. The grant will not require a local match since it specifically targets RL and SRL 
properties currently covered under a National Flood Insurance Policy. IDHSEM stated the 
Federal portion of the grant could include the maximum allowable replacement housing 
benefit of $31K per property if the local market conditions support it. There are eight (8) 
properties in the Cedar River floodway and one (1) property in the Big Woods Lake area that 
are listed as RL or SRL. The eligible properties for the grant have a total assessed value of 
$3.2 million.  
 
Currently, staff is moving forward in the process to complete a Hazard Mitigation Grant 
application to purchase the nine (9) RL and SRL properties. As with previous buyout programs, 
these acquisitions are voluntary, the property owner can decline participation any time right up 
to closing. Again, this grant will not require a financial match from the City as the program is 
intended to remove properties which currently participate in the NFIP meeting the definition of 
RL or SRL properties. The funding contribution is provided by FEMA (90%) and the State of 
Iowa (10%). The deadline to submit the grant is September 15, 2023. 
 
Our most recent experience with the 2021 buyout program started with nine (9) property 
owners who were initially interested in selling their properties.  After receiving the property 
appraisals, only four (4) owners chose to participate. One owner, who had repeatedly 
expressed interest in selling their property, ultimately declined the offer because they had 
difficulty finding a comparable property in Cedar Falls matching the purchase offer price on 
their existing home. One owner who did sell their property stated they would be moving in 
with a relative due to the difficulty finding a comparable house they could afford in the Cedar 
Falls market.  

370

Item 20.



 
Staff spoke with IDHSEM regarding the difficulty that property owners were having finding 
comparable properties in Cedar Falls housing market.  IDHSEM asked if the City would like 
to consider offering replacement housing incentives, in addition to FEMA, to homeowners 
who might be reluctant to sell because of replacement housing costs.  Offering an incentive 
in addition to FEMA’s may make our application more competitive and more likely to be 
funded if housing relocation funds are warranted to meet local housing costs. In addition, 
IDHSEM stated that if the housing market did not warrant the incentive, as determined by 
FEMA, the City would not be obligated to provide the incentive.  
 
Since the Federal and State governments amended the 2022 grant agreement eliminating 
the local match requirement, there is currently $342,147 in the City’s capital account for 
floodplain buyouts. Staff would recommend using $171,000 ($19,000 per property) from the 
City’s flood buyout account along with the Federal allocation of $31,000 to provide up to 
$50,000 in assistance in finding replacement housing in Cedar Falls, if necessary.  
 
The administration of the grant would be similar to the previous buyout grants. If the City is 
awarded a grant, the next step would be for the City to enter into an agreement with the 
IDHSEM and begin the process of contacting property owners to gauge their interest in selling 
their property. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends that City Council approve the 
resolution to submit an application to the Iowa Department of Homeland Security and 
Emergency Management for a Hazard Mitigation Grant to purchase three (3) repetitive loss 
and six (6) severe repetitive loss properties with an allocation of up to $19,000 per property, if 
necessary, for housing relocation assistance for property owners. If you have questions, please 
contact the Community Development Department. 
 
 
 

 
xc:  Karen Howard, AICP, Planning and Community Services Manager 

Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 

   

371

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thomas Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 
 

 DATE: August 21, 2023 

SUBJECT: Extension of the Timeline to Complete the Hazard Mitigation Grant for 
Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program 

 
In May 2019, the City submitted a notice of intent to the Iowa Department of Homeland 
Security Emergency Management (IDHSEM) for a Hazard Mitigation Grant to purchase 15 
properties in the North Cedar Neighborhood. July 2019, the City Council adopted Resolution 
21,609 approving and authorizing the application for a Hazard Mitigation Grant and the local 
match of $259,080 (15%) of a total project cost of $1,622,297.  
 
The grant application was put on hold because of 2019-2020 flooding in other portions of 
Iowa. In March 2021, HSEMD notified the City there would be funding available to move 
forward. Staff reached out to property owners to determine if there was still interest in 
participation in the program. On August 10, 2021, the grant was approved to purchase nine 
(9) properties with $1,498,040 total funding available with a local match of $224,706 (15%) 
and on October 4, 2021, City Council passed Resolution 22,527 to provide the matching 
funds for the grant. Only four (4) property owners chose to participate.   
 
In late September 2022, the City entered into a second amendment to the agreement 
reducing the City’s matching portion of the grant from $224,706 (15%) to $0, a change 
resulting in the Federal Government assuming the City’s cost.  
  
In early November IHSEMD contacted the City to determine whether any of the property 
owners who had not shown interest in selling in 2021 might want to reconsider selling since 
the project was being completely funded by Federal and State agencies. The City sent letters 
on November 9, 2022, to again extend the opportunity to property owners to participate in the 
buyout and asked interested owners to respond by December 1, 2022.  There are two (2) 
property owners who are interested in selling. December 19, 2022, Council approved 
Resolution 23,012 authorizing amendment three (3) to the subaward agreement with 
IDHSEM.  
 
The City did not receive the approval to the change of scope for the additional two (2) 
property purchases from IDHSEM until August 10, 2023.  The previous amendment to the 

372

Item 21.



project is set to expire on September 30, 2023. To complete all the work necessary for these 
two additional buyouts another amendment to the agreement is needed, which will extend 
the grant through April 1, 2024.  
 
The Department of Community Development recommends that the City Council adopt a 
resolution approving a fourth amendment to the Grant Agreement and Administrative Plan for 
the Voluntary Property Acquisition Program funded under the Hazard Mitigation Grant 
Program to extend the grant through April 1, 2024.  If you have any questions, please contact 
the Community Development Department.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
xc:  Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 

  

373

Item 21.



Page 1 of 1 

Amendment Number Four

SUBAWARD AGREEMENT 

Between 

Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management 

And 

City of Cedar Falls 

SUBAWARD AGREEMENT NO:  HMGP-DR-4557-0003 
PROJECT TITLE:  Cedar Falls - Property Acquisitions 
AMENDED FEDERAL FUNDS OBLIGATED AMOUNT: $852,809.04 

This is Amendment Number Four to the above-referenced Subaward Agreement (AGREEMENT) between Iowa Department of
Homeland Security and Emergency Management (HSEMD) and City of Cedar Falls (SUBRECIPIENT). The original 
AGREEMENT was executed on 10/11/2021.  

Page 1 of 12, Section I. SCOPE OF WORK, paragraphs 1-2, of said AGREEMENT is amended to read: 

This Subaward Agreement (AGREEMENT) is to provide the City of Cedar Falls (SUBRECIPIENT) with federal 
assistance from the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program and applicable non-federal matching funds for the above referenced 
hazard mitigation grant. The total subaward is $ . 

Project Costs – The federal share shall not exceed $852,809.04 or (90%) of the actual allowable subaward costs, whichever 
is less. The state share shall not exceed $94,756.56 or (10%) of the actual allowable costs, whichever is less.  

Section I. SCOPE OF WORK, amended to include EHP Standard Conditions and EHP Special Conditions as paragraphs 5-
15. 

EHP Standard Conditions: 

A change to the approved scope of work (SOW) requires prior approval from FEMA. The National Environmental Policy 
Act (NEPA) stipulates that additions or amendments to a HMGP subrecipient SOW shall be reviewed by all state and federal 
agencies participating in the NEPA process. NEPA sign off for all SOW additions or amendments is essential before the 
revised SOW can be approved by FEMA or implemented by the HMGP subrecipient. 

This review does not address all federal, state and local requirements. Acceptance of federal funding requires recipient to 
comply with all federal, state and local laws. Failure to obtain all appropriate federal, state and local environmental permits 
and clearances may impact federal funding. 

If ground disturbing activities occur during construction, applicant will monitor ground disturbance and if any potential 
archeological resources are discovered, will immediately cease construction in that area and notify the State and FEMA. 

EHP Special Conditions: 

National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA): In the event that archaeological deposits (e.g., soils, middens, refuse,
storage pits, privies, wells, cisterns, features, artifacts, or other remnants of human activity) are encountered during
ground disturbing activities, work in the vicinity of the discovery shall stop immediately and all reasonable measures
shall be taken to avoid or minimize harm to the discovery, all archaeological finds shall be protected, and access to

Security and Emergency Management (HSEMD), which shall notify FEMA and FEMA will consult with the Iowa
State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) and other potential consulting parties including Native American Tribes
and the Office of the State Archaeologist (OSA). Work in sensitive areas may not resume until an archaeologist who

374

Item 21.



meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards determines the extent and historic 
significance of the discovery and consultations are completed. Work may not resume at or around the delineated 
archaeologi  

National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA): In the event that human remains are encountered, all work shall stop
form the Iowa Department of

Homeland Security and Emergency Management (IHSEMD) immediately, will secure all remains, and will restrict
access to the area. IHSEMD shall notify FEMA, and FEMA will notify the Iowa State Historic Preservation Officer
(SHPO) and the 2 Office of the State Archaeologist (OSA). In cases where human remains are determined to be
Native American, FEMA shall also consult with the appropriate Tribal representative(s). Additionally, FEMA shall
follow the guidelines outlined in the ACHP Policy Statement Regarding the Treatment of Burial Sites, Human

National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA): 
stockpiles or commercially procured sources.

Executive Order 11990 – Wetlands: Construction activities and equipment storage are not to be located in or
impact any adjacent wetlands. All materials and equipment should be staged outside of the wetland on paved or
previously disturbed areas.

Executive Order 11990 – Wetlands: The applicant shall ensure that best management practices are implemented to
prevent erosion and sedimentation to surrounding, nearby or adjacent wetlands. This includes equipment storage and
staging of construction to prevent erosion and sedimentation to ensure that wetlands are not adversely impacted per
the Clean Water Act and Executive Order 11990.

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA): If any asbestos containing material, lead based paint, and/or
other toxic materials are found during construction activities, the applicant must comply with all federal, state, and
local abatement and disposal requirements.

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA): Unusable equipment, debris and material shall be disposed of
in an approved manner and location. In the event significant items (or evidence thereof) are discovered during
implementation of the project, applicant shall handle, manage, and dispose of petroleum products, hazardous
materials and toxic waste in accordance with the requirements and to the satisfaction of the governing local, state
and federal agencies.

Monitored Endangered Species Act (ESA): If work is not completed by April 1, 2024, additional FEMA
Environmental and Historic Preservation review is required. Do not carry out work after April 1, 2024, without
notifying FEMA that work was not completed prior to that date. Work after April 1, 2024, must only be reinitiated
following additional FEMA EHP review.

: Scope of Work, Total Budget, of said AGREEMENT is amended as attached. 

All other paragraphs in said AGREEMENT remain unchanged. 

375

Item 21.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, HSEMD, the SUBRECIPIENT, and the AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE have executed this 
AGREEMENT by the signatures of authorized persons of the entities and on the date indicated below: 

City of Cedar Falls: 

 ______________________________________ 

Rob Green 
Mayor 

 _____________________________________ 

Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management: 

______________________________________ 

Dennis Harper       
Alternate GAR

______________________________________ 
Date Date 

____________________________________ 
Authorized Representative (Optional) 

_______________________________ 
Date 

376

Item 21.



Amended Scope of Work 

Scope of Work:  To mitigate damages caused by flooding, this project proposes to acquire and demolish/convert to open space 15 
(6 approved) residential properties susceptible to flooding from the Cedar River. The project will be implemented in accordance 
with 44 CFR part 80. The properties included in this project are as follows: 

Description of Proposed Project: 

# Address City State Zip Amount
4 627 Clair St Cedar Falls Iowa 50613 $95,000.00 
6 628 Longview St Cedar Falls Iowa 50613 $135,000.00 
8 1027 Clair St Cedar Falls Iowa 50613 $78,000.00 
9 824 Cottage Row Rd Cedar Falls Iowa 50613 $170,000.00 
11 1218 Cottage Row Rd Cedar Falls Iowa 50613 $147,000.00 
12 1824 Cottage Row Rd Cedar Falls Iowa 50613 $238,000.00 

Total Budget 

Cost Type Amount 

Acquisition Costs for All Properties $863,000.00 

Asbestos & Demolition $69,438.00 

Legal, Closing, Permits and Fees $8,331.60 

Pre-Award – Appraisals $6,796.00 

Total Project $947,565.60 

Management Costs $39,244.00 

Total Award $986,809.60 

377

Item 21.



378

Item 21.



379

Item 21.



380

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 14, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2022 Alley Reconstruction Project  
  Project No. RC-000-3268 
   Project Final Acceptance  
 
The 2022 Alley Reconstruction Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This 
project involved reconstruction of six (6) alleys, three (3) of which are concrete and three 
(3) are permeable alleys. This project was under contract with Owen Contracting, Inc. of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. This item was 108 in the FY22 Fiscal Year CIP and included funds 
from item 110 in the FY21 Fiscal Year CIP. Attached please find the following final 
documents: 

- Final Pay Estimate (Retainage Release) 
- Copy of Maintenance Bond, Owen Contracting, Inc 

 
The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division, and 
are on file with the City Clerk: 
 

Owen Contracting, Inc. Suppliers: 
Benton’s Ready Mix Concrete  
Logan Contractors Supply 
 

Owen Contracting, Inc. subcontractors: 
Aspro 
Service Signing LC 
Matthias Landscaping 
    Midland Concrete Products  
    Foster’s Inc. 
Benton’s Sand and Gravel 
   Leymaster Tile 
   Northern Iowa Construction Products  
   Utility Equipment  
   Basic Materials Corporation 
  

 
381

Item 22.



This project was funded by the Storm Water fund, Street Construction and State 
funding, and below is a breakdown of final contract costs by the funding source: 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Strom Water Fund   $85,000.00 

State Funding  $52,500.00 

Street Construction Fund $394,731.28 

 
 
With Council approval, a transfer of funds from the following funding sources to the 
Street Construction Fund will be made per Iowa Code 545-2.5. 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Strom Water Bond Fund   $85,000.00 

 
 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2022 Alley Reconstruction Project was 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
            Brett Armstrong   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
 
 

  

8/14/23 

382

Item 22.



383

Item 22.



384

Item 22.



385

Item 22.



386

Item 22.



8/7/2023

387

Item 22.



388

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, E.I., Civil Engineer II  
 
 DATE: August 21st, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project  
  City Project Number: SW-000-3301 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Friday, August 10th, 2023, at 10:00 A.M., bids were received and opened for the 2023 
Sidewalk Assessment Project. A total of one (1) bid(s) was received, with Boulder 
Contracting LLC. the apparent low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $104,724.40 

Boulder Contracting, LLC   $74,473.50 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $104,724.40. Boulder Contracting LLC. of 
Grundy Center, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $74,473.50. Attached is a 
bid tabulation for your reference. The project will be funded through assessment of the 
corresponding property owners. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends acceptance of 
the lowest bid from Boulder Contracting LLC. in the amount of $74,473.50. On September 
5th, 2023, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance Certificate will be submitted for City Council 
approval. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer     

389

Item 23.



Line Item Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

$104,724.40 $74,473.50

1 2010-108-D-3 OFF SITE TOPSOIL Cu Yd 26.34 $100.00 $2,634.00 $225.00 $5,926.50

2 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK Sq Yd 367.9 $90.00 $33,111.00 $43.00 $15,819.70

3 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 4 INCH Sq Yd 357.28 $125.00 $44,660.00 $95.00 $33,941.60

4 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 6 INCH Sq Yd 10.62 $150.00 $1,593.00 $255.00 $2,708.10

5 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $8,000.00 $8,000.00

6 9010-108-B-0 SEEDING, FERTILIZING, AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING Sq Ft 1404.8 $5.50 $7,726.40 $5.75 $8,077.60

Base Bid Total: $104,724.40 $74,473.50

BID TABULATION
2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project (#8588906)

Owner: Cedar Falls IA, City of

Solicitor: Cedar Falls IA, City of

08/11/2023 10:00 AM CDT

Engineer Estimate Boulder Contracting, LLC

390

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 14, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Black Hawk County Cooperative Agreement 

West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 
 
Enclosed is a proposed Cooperative Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and 
Black Hawk County for the West Viking Road Reconstruction Project. The agreement 
outlines the responsibilities between the City and the County with regards to design, 
right-of-way acquisition, financial contribution, construction, and future maintenance of 
West Viking Road from Union Road to the City Limits near Production Drive.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous cooperative project agreements with 
Black Hawk County. The proposed Agreement follows the terms and conditions set forth 
in the earlier agreements. The County also will contribute $350,000 towards the project. 
This agreement is also in accordance with the existing 28E agreement already 
established between the City and County.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends your approval 
of this proposed Cooperative Agreement with Black Hawk County. 
 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 

391

Item 24.



392

Item 24.



393

Item 24.



394

Item 24.



395

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 14, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Fiber Optic License Agreement 
   Unite Private Networks 
   Technology Parkway 
 
Enclosed is a proposed License Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Unite 
Private Networks to install an additional long-distance telecommunications system 
consisting of fiber optic cable within the public right-of way of the City, to extend and 
upgrade services owned by Unite Private Networks along Technology Parkway. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous license agreements with Unite Private 
Networks. The proposed License Agreement follows the terms and conditions set forth 
in the earlier agreements and is intended to protect the City of Cedar Falls right-of way 
and manage and regulate in a manner consistent with federal and state law. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends your approval 
of this proposed License Agreement. 
 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
  
 

396

Item 25.



397

Item 25.



398

Item 25.



399

Item 25.



400

Item 25.



401

Item 25.



402

Item 25.



403

Item 25.



404

Item 25.



405

Item 25.



406

Item 25.



407

Item 25.



408

Item 25.



409

Item 25.



410

Item 25.



411

Item 25.



412

Item 25.



413

Item 25.



414

Item 25.



415

Item 25.



416

Item 25.



417

Item 25.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: August 14, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Transfer of Lot 17, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III; Lots 1, 2 
and 3, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV; and Lots 17 and 18, 
West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 
Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 11.79 acres more or less) 

 
 
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for September 5, 2023 to 
address the proposed transfer of the above referenced City owned real estate to Cedar 
Falls Partners, LLC. The proposed project would consist of an approximate 87,000 
square foot building to be constructed along Innovation Drive and Development Drive in 
the West Viking Road Industrial Park. Additional information pertaining to the land 
transaction and the Agreement for Private Development will be provided to City Council 
prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
         
        
 
 
 

418

Item 26.



De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Inn
ova

tio
n D

r

Technology Pkwy

Venture Way

Capital Way

Project Location

¨
1 " = 400 '

Venture Way

Hawkeye
Corrugated

Box

Cedar Falls Partners, LLC
87,000 SF Distribution
Warehouse Project

Bossard

D. LaPorte

419

Item 26.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING (1) TO CONSIDER 

ENTERING INTO A PROPOSED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND CEDAR FALLS PARTNERS, 

LLC; AND (2) TO CONSIDER CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN CITY-OWNED REAL 

ESTATE TO CEDAR FALLS PARTNERS, LLC, PURSUANT TO SAID PROPOSED 

AGREEMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from Cedar 

Falls Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed 

Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Cedar 

Falls Partners, LLC on terms which include: 

 

(1) Conveyance of certain city-owned real estate legally described as consisting of all that 

certain parcel or parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of 

Black Hawk, State of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 17, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III; Lots 1, 2 and 3, West Viking Road 

Industrial Park Phase IV; Lots 17 and 18, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City 

of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 11.79 acres more or less); 

 

and  

 

(2) Entering into a Minimum Assessment Agreement whereby the minimum actual taxable 

value of the land and improvements to be constructed on the Development Property would 

be established at an amount not less than $9,270,000.00 for a period through December 31, 

2035; 

and  

 

 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance 

of the Development Property to the Developer pursuant to the terms of said Agreement.  

 

420

Item 26.



 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 5th day of September, 2023, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council 

Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, to consider 

entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 

Cedar Falls Partners, LLC, and to consider conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer on 

certain terms as set forth in the proposed agreement.  A copy of the proposed agreement is on file in the 

Office of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish said notice of said 

public hearing. 

 

ADOPTED this 21st day of August, 2023. 

 

   

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

421

Item 26.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and legally 

adopted by the City Council of said City on the 21st day of August, 2023. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

  

 

 

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

422

Item 26.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, AICP, Planner I 

 DATE: August 21, 2023  

 SUBJECT: Text Amendment – Establishment of Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission 
(Proposed Ordinance and Bylaws) 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 
Since as far back as their 2016 annual report, one of the priority recommendations of the 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee has been to elevate the committee to a standing 
commission.  This recommendation has been noted by the Mayor and Council and was 
considered at the most recent goal-setting where staff was directed to prepare the proposal 
for Council’s formal consideration. In collaboration with different departments, with the City 
Attorney, and with the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee, staff has prepared a code 
amendment and bylaws which are included as attachments to this memo. 
 
BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 
The Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee functions as an ad hoc committee and the 
current iteration of the committee was initially established by Mayor Jon Crews in 2009. It has 
no formal bylaws and is not established by code. As such, there has been some confusion 
regarding appointment of members or term of membership, with some members being 
appointed by a Mayor without  any defined term of service or formal approval by Council. In 
some regards, it has functioned as a volunteer committee. Since they often consider and 
provide recommendations relating to public interest such as infrastructure and policy, City 
staff has been treating them no different than a board or commission: providing staff 
resources, publishing agendas and minutes, meeting monthly, and generally abiding by open 
meeting laws. However, they are listed separate from boards or commissions on our website, 
and perhaps have been more akin to a task force in their official capacity. 
 
The responsibilities and contributions of the committee have been invaluable in increasing 
the usability of our infrastructure and facilities over the years. The execution of these duties 
has also led to: 

 Greater education for the community; 

 Broader promotion of our excellent recreational amenities; 

 Staff awareness of practical issues with facilities or infrastructure; and 

 Notable improvements to our bicycle and pedestrian networks. 
 

423

Item 27.



While the knowledge and experience of the current membership of the committee already 
lends credibility to their recommendations, the primary advantage to formalizing a 
commission is that the Mayor can recommend  members, and the Council can review and 
appoint persons to the commission withwell-defined terms of service, a proper defined scope 
of responsibility, and expectations typical of all who serve on our boards and commissions. 
The hope of the committee is to not only be made “official,” but to raise the perceived 
credibility of their recommendations by giving elected officials a say in the make-up of this 
new commission. 
 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE & BYLAWS 
The proposed ordinance and bylaws were modeled after standard language contained in the 
existing ordinances and bylaws governing other boards and commissions at the City. The 
specific provisions meriting deeper consideration are the powers and duties granted or 
delegated to the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission by Council. Each power and duty is 
outlined below with some brief discussion of the implications of each. 
 

a) To adopt rules governing the commission's organization and procedure as may be 
deemed necessary. 
 
This is standard language which grants the right to adopt bylaws and make changes to 
them by vote of the commission. Bylaws cannot conflict with the ordinance or other 
applicable laws but in every other respect a board or commission may update or adopt 
bylaws that guide and govern how the board or commission operates. 
  

b) To develop and provide resources and events to educate citizens and promote safety 
and well-being for pedestrians, cyclists, and users of other active transportation 
modes. 
 
The committee has been involved in articles for the Courier, articles for Currents, 
content for Channel 15, and educational events during May Bike Month and at 
elementary schools. The commission will be expected to continue these efforts. 
 

c) To enhance the economic development of the city by promoting the practical and 
recreational utility of the Cedar Falls pedestrian and bicycle networks. 
 
The remarkable extent of our trail network has long been an important piece of 
attracting people to the city. In that vein, greater use by those that live here and 
greater discovery by those that visit has been a strong goal of the committee. The 
commission will be expected to continue that promotion especially with inclusion along 
the Great American Rail Trail and events such as the Des Moines Register's Annual 
Great Bicycle Ride Across Iowa (RAGBRAI). 
 

d) To provide feedback and recommendations to the City Engineer regarding the usability 
and condition of current and proposed active transportation infrastructure and 
networks. 
 
This is a very practical role filled by the committee where staff is made aware of issues 
and problems as they arise. The committee has also played an important role in the 
review and refinement of planned routes for construction/reconstruction in the City’s 

424

Item 27.



Capital Improvements Program (CIP) and within new subdivisions as they are being 
considered for approval. The commission will be expected to continue that effort as 
solicited by City Staff for all modes of active transportation, including both walking and 
biking. 
 

e) To review and recommend to the City policies, programs, rules, and regulations 
related to active transportation modes. Also identify opportunities to seek recognition 
on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls for the exceptional aspects of the City’s active 
transportation network. 
 
The committee has provided recommendations to Staff and Council regarding how we 
should regulate the use of ebikes. They have also provided feedback regarding 
scooter companies seeking to operate in Cedar Falls. As the landscape for active 
transportation modes changes, so too will policies, programs, rules, and regulations. 
The commission will be expected to review and provide recommendations as new 
issues and questions arise. As for opportunities to seek recognition, they will be 
expected to continue the efforts in applying for our Bicycle Friendly Community status 
among other designations that the City may qualify for. These designations make the 
city more aware of common best practices and typically come with recommendations 
of how to improve and upgrade our status. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee reviewed and discussed the proposed code 
language and bylaws at their August 1st meeting and unanimously requests approval of the 
ordinance amendment establishing the proposed commission. Once applications for the new 
Commission have been reviewed and members have been appointed, this will effectively 
dissolve the committee as currently constituted. 
 

 
 
Attachments:   Proposed Ordinance 
  Proposed Bylaws 
 

  

 

425

Item 27.



Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner I, Community Development Department, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar 
Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5180 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE IV, BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS, OF 
CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO CREATE A NEW BICYCLE AND 
PEDESTRIAN COMMISSION AND ESTABLISH THE REGULATIONS AND 
POWERS AND DUTIES FOR SAID COMMISSION. 

 
WHEREAS, one of the annual priority recommendations of the Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Advisory Committee has long been to elevate the ad hoc committee to a standing commission; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the role of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee has been akin to 
that of other boards and commissions often considering and providing recommendations 
relating to public interest; and  

 
WHEREAS, the process of appointment and term of membership for the Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Advisory Committee has never been codified; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee has reviewed the proposed 

amendment and unanimously recommends approval; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council deems it in the best interest of the community to create a new 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

 

Section 1: Paragraph 2-277, Information to be provided to mayor and council, within Division 
1, Generally, of Article IV, Boards and Commissions, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new 
subparagraph (19), as follows:  
 

(19)  Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission  
 

Section 2: Article IV, Boards and Commissions, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new Division 7, 
entitled, Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission, which shall include Sections 2-460 through 2-
466 (previously reserved), as follows: 
 

DIVISION 7. Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission 
 
Sec. 2-460. Created. 
 

There is hereby established in the city a bicycle and pedestrian commission.  
 

426

Item 27.



Sec. 2-461. Powers and duties. 
 

The powers and duties of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission are as follows: 
 

(a) To adopt rules governing the commission's organization and procedure as may 
be deemed necessary. 
 

(b) To develop and provide resources and events to educate citizens and promote 
safety and well-being for pedestrians, cyclists, and users of other active 
transportation modes. 
 

(c) To enhance the economic development of the city by promoting the practical 
and recreational utility of the Cedar Falls pedestrian and bicycle networks. 
 

(d) To provide feedback and recommendations to the City Engineer regarding the 
usability and condition of current and proposed active transportation 
infrastructure and networks. 
 

(e) To review and recommend to the City policies, programs, rules, and 
regulations related to active transportation modes. Also identify opportunities to 
seek recognition on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls for the exceptional 
aspects of the City’s active transportation network. 
 

Sec. 2-462. Appointment of members; term of office. 
 

(a) The Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission shall be comprised of seven members 
at least 18 years of age who shall be residents of the city. 
 

(b) The members shall be qualified by general knowledge or experience in matters 
related to active transportation. 
 

(c) Members shall not hold any elective position in the city. 
 

(d) The members shall be appointed by the mayor, subject to approval of the city 
council. 
 

(e) The term of office of the members of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission 
shall be four (4) years, however, when the Commission is initially established, 
terms shall be staggered so that no more than three (3) members’ terms expire 
each year. Any vacancy occurring on the Commission shall be filled by 
appointment by the Mayor, with approval of the City Council, for the unexpired 
term. 
 

(f) An effort shall be made to appoint members to the commission who represent 
various active transportation modes, prioritizing a balance of pedestrian 
interests with those of cyclists, and also backgrounds representing the 
community at-large. 

 
Sec. 2-463. Compensation of commissioners. 
 

427

Item 27.



The Bicycle and Pedestrian Commissioners shall serve without compensation.  
 
Sec. 2-464. Chairperson; Vice-Chairperson 

 
The commission shall elect a chairperson and vice-chairperson from among its 
members to serve one-year terms.   

 
Sec. 2-465. Record of meetings 

 
The Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission shall keep a record of all its meetings, which 
record shall be permanent and kept up to date.  

 
 Sec. 2-466. Annual report. 

 
After the close of the calendar year, the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission shall 
make an annual report to the city council of its proceedings, the progress of its work 
over the prior year, and the attendance of its members.  

 

INTRODUCED:     August 21, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 
 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

428

Item 27.



 Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission By-Laws 
 

BY-LAWS OF THE 

CEDAR FALLS BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 

COMMISSION 

 
 

ARTICLE I. Name 

The Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission is the advisory body that works with staff and the 

Cedar Falls City Council to improve the experience of pedestrians and cyclists in the community. 

 

ARTICLE II. Mission 

The mission of the Commission is to improve the quality of life, general health, safety, and welfare in 

Cedar Falls through the increased opportunity for safe walking, bicycling, and other active modes as 

viable means of transportation and physical and recreational activity. 

 

ARTICLE III. Powers and Duties 

The powers and duties of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission are provided for in Section 2-455 of 

the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances. 
 

ARTICLE IV. Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission 

Section 1 Membership of the commission; appointment of members. 

 

The number of members and the appointment thereof shall be as provided for in Section 2-456 of 

the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances. 

 

Section 2 Term of office of commission members. 

 

The term of office of the members of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission shall be as 

provided for in Section 2-456 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances. 

 

Section 3 Training 

 

From time to time, commissioners may identify training opportunities the City may consider 

funding. Requests shall be made in advance to the Director of Community Development or 

their designee and will be approved as the Community Development budget allows. 

 

Section 4 Absence of members from commission meetings. 

 

Regular attendance by Commission members shall be expected at all Commission meetings. 

Excessive absences shall be a basis for the Commission Chair to recommend to the Mayor that 

the seat be vacated and a new appointment be made for the unexpired term. 

 

Excessive absences shall be more than three (3) meetings with or without excuses or explanation 

in a calendar year. 

 

Section 5 Ex Officio Members. 

 

a) Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments shall be invited to appoint a 

representative of its organization to serve as an Ex Officio member of the Cedar Falls Bicycle 

and Pedestrian Commission. 
429

Item 27.



 Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission By-Laws 
 

 

b) Cedar Valley Cyclists shall be invited to appoint a representative of its organization to 

serve as an Ex Officio member of the Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission. 

 

c) The Cedar Valley Association for Soft Trails shall be invited to appoint a representative of 

its organization to serve as an Ex Officio member of the Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Commission. 

 

d) The Cedar Falls School District shall be invited to appoint a representative of its 

organization to serve as an Ex Officio member of the Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Commission. 

 

e) The Cedar Valley Bicycle Collective shall be invited to appoint a representative of its 

organization to serve as an Ex Officio member of the Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Commission. 

 

f) Ex Officio representatives shall be appointed by their respective organizations in 

December, or when positions are vacant, with terms commencing the following January 1, 

and continuing until their successors are appointed by their respective organizations. Ex 

Officio members shall serve on the Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission without voting 

privileges. 

 

Section 6 Officers 

 

a) The officers of the Commission shall consist of a Chairperson and a Vice-Chairperson, 

who shall be elected at the December meeting each year, with their term of office 

commencing the following January 1, and continuing for one (1) year or until their 

successors are elected, and the Chairperson may not serve more than two terms 

consecutively. A nominating committee consisting of two (2) members not currently holding 

office shall be appointed by the Chairperson at the October meeting each year. The 

Committee shall report the names of its nominees for officers at the November meeting each 

year. 

 

b) The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the commission, work closely with City 

staff, be a public spokesperson for the commission and generally perform all duties associated 

with that office. The Chairperson is encouraged to serve two consecutive terms, particularly 

where they have just completed their first and only term. 

 

c) In the event of the absence or disability of the Chairperson, or of a vacancy in that office, the 

Vice-Chairperson shall assume and perform the duties and functions of the Chairperson.  

 

d) The Community Development Director or their designee shall be responsible for 

recording minutes of all meetings. 

 

ARTICLE V. Meetings 

Section 1 Regular meetings of the commission shall be held monthly, generally on the first 

Tuesday of the month at 5:15 p.m. provided there is business to be transacted. 

 

Section 2 Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson or at the request of four 

commission members during a regularly scheduled meeting, for the transaction of 

business as stated in the notice of the special meeting. All members shall be notified 
430

Item 27.



 Cedar Falls Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission By-Laws 
 

in writing of such meetings in accordance with Section 7 of this Article. The 

conduct of special meetings shall follow all regular meeting requirements. 

 

Section 3 A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the commission shall 

consist of a majority of all voting members of the commission, present in person, 

unless otherwise provided by State or local proclamation. Voting by proxy shall not 

be allowed. 

 

Section 4 Unless otherwise specified by law or these by-laws, motions may be passed by 

simple majority vote of the quorum. 

 

Section 5 Except as otherwise provided for in these By-laws, proceedings of all meetings shall 

be governed by the latest edition of “Robert’s Rules of Order.” 

 

Section 6 A record of all commission meetings and committee meetings shall be kept. 

Agendas and Minutes of the commission meetings shall be submitted to the Cedar 

Falls City Clerk to maintain public records of the commission. 

 

Section 7 Notice of and agenda for each commission meeting shall be given as provided by 

law. Notice of, and agenda for, each regular meeting of the commission, shall be 

emailed to each commission member at least three (3) days in advance of the date of 

the meeting. 

 

Section 8 All meetings shall be open to the public and notice thereof shall be posted as 

required by law, including at City Hall and on the electronic City Calendar. 

 

ARTICLE VI. Committees 

The commission shall have the authority by majority vote of the quorum to establish committees as 

it deems necessary from time to time to accomplish specific tasks outside of regular meetings and 

reviews. These tasks may include event planning and execution, community education efforts, 

assessment and inventory of current infrastructure, applications for community recognition, and any 

other applicable tasks that further the mission of the commission. These committees may be 

comprised of no more than three voting members of the Commission who may also solicit the help 

of additional persons who are not on the commission, but committees shall be comprised of at least 

one voting member of the commission. All members of each committee shall be appointed by the 

Chairperson and confirmed by majority vote of the quorum. Committees shall make 

recommendations to the commission for action but shall not take action themselves, except as 

specifically authorized by the commission. 

 

 

ARTICLE VII. Review of By-Laws 

Any changes to the by-laws shall require a majority vote of the entire voting membership of the board. 

 

431

Item 27.



432

Item 28.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 8/21/23 COUNCIL MEETING



433

Item 28.



434

Item 28.



435

Item 28.



436

Item 28.



437

Item 28.



438

Item 28.



439

Item 28.



440

Item 28.



441

Item 28.



442

Item 28.



443

Item 28.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 8/21/23 MEETING



444

Item 28.



445

Item 28.



446

Item 28.



447

Item 28.



448

Item 28.



449

Item 28.



450

Item 28.



451

Item 28.



452

Item 28.



453

Item 28.



454

Item 28.



455

Item 28.



456

Item 28.



457

Item 28.



458

Item 28.



459

Item 28.



460

Item 28.



461

Item 28.



462

Item 28.



463

Item 28.



464

Item 28.



465

Item 28.



466

Item 28.



467

Item 28.



468

Item 28.



469

Item 28.



470

Item 28.



471

Item 28.



472

Item 28.



473

Item 28.



474

Item 28.



475

Item 28.



476

Item 28.



477

Item 28.



478

Item 28.



479

Item 28.



480

Item 28.



481

Item 28.



482

Item 28.



483

Item 28.



484

Item 28.



485

Item 28.



486

Item 28.



487

Item 28.



488

Item 28.



489

Item 28.



490

Item 28.



491

Item 28.



492

Item 28.



493

Item 28.



494

Item 28.



495

Item 28.



496

Item 28.



497

Item 28.



498

Item 28.



499

Item 28.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular meeting of August 7, 2023
	230807MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-Convey vacated Hudson Rd. ROW
	1. CC memo to convey vacated Hudson Road ROW
	2. Res to convey.Hudson Road row 8.21.23
	3. Acquisition Plat
	4. Appraisal - Hudson Road ROW

	Item 3.	PH-Parking setbacks for civic and institutional uses
	1 - Memo.CC. ph.parking for civic uses in CD-DT
	2- Ordinance - parking excep for institutional uses in CD-DT
	1-St. Patrick City Council Letter 21AUG23 Meeting
	2-St. Patrick Campus Exhibit 7-24-23
	3-Richardson Funeral Services Letter
	4-First United Methodist Letter 2023
	5-Brian Wingert Amendment Letter

	Item 4.	Ord. 3036-Political Signs
	1-Memo to Mayor Council Political Sign ordinance
	2-Ordinance Amendment to Sec. 3-64
	3-Ord. 3036, Political Signs

	Item 5.	Ord. 3037-Salary of Councilmembers
	1. Council Salary Ord Amend Memo 2023-Revised
	2. Ord-Council Salary Increase Ordinances Sec 2-47 (1)
	3. Ord 3037-Council Salary Increase Ordinances Sec 2-47 (1)-Final

	Item 6.	Ord. 3038-Parking Permits
	1-memocc-parking amendments
	2-Ord-parking permits-Redline
	3-3038-parking permits

	Item 7.	Ord. 3039-Parking-UNI
	1. Memo - Limited Parking on University Avenue frontage road Ordinance
	2. Dakota Street
	3. Redlined Sec._23-374 and 23-379_Final
	4. 3039-Parking Dakota St-UNI Frontage Road

	Item 8.	Ord. 3040-Center Street/Lone Tree Rd. Stop Sign
	1. Center Street Stop Sign Ordinance Memo
	2. Sec._23_231. - Center and Lone Tree Change
	3. 3040-Center Street Stop Sign Ordinance Change

	Item 9.	Committee Minutes 8-7-2023
	08-07-23 Standing Committees Minutes-Final

	Item 10.	Certified List-Traffic Technician
	Traffic Technician-Cert List 8-2023

	Item 11.	Reformatted Personnel Policy Manual
	08-21-2023 New Format Personnel Policy Manual and memo to council

	Item 12.	Liquor-Beer 08-14-23
	Retail alcohol 08-21-23

	Item 14.	Local Option Sales Tax
	1.LOST Memo
	2. LOST Res.

	Item 15.	FY25 SSMID Rate
	SSMID City Letter - FY2025

	Item 16.	Warranty Deed & Termination of Agreement-Wayne Estates, LLC
	1_City Council Memo Accepting Lot and Terminating Agreement 08-21-23
	2_Wayne Estates, LLC Site Map
	3_Signed Warranty Deed
	4_Termination of Agreement for Private Development

	Item 17.	Diamond Arts & History Grant-Hearst
	CFCF Diamond Grant Memo_Culture Art Mobile Tour
	Cedar Falls Art &amp; Culture Mobile TourPacket (1)

	Item 18.	Change order-Rental rehabilitation-1009 West 3rd Street
	1. change order for rehab
	2 signed change order 8-3-23

	Item 19.	Ashworth North-Preliminary Plat
	1 - Ashworth North Prelim Staff report
	2 - Location Map
	3 - Preliminary Plat Combined 7.5.23

	Item 20.	IDHSEM App-Hazard Mitigation Grant-Northern Cedar Falls
	1_Memo Approving entering into Agreement for grant

	Item 21.	IDHSEM 4th Amend.-Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout
	1_Memo Approving 4th extension of the Flood Buyout Grant 8-21-2023
	2_Subaward Agreement Amendment 4

	Item 22.	Final - 2022 Alley Reconstruction
	1. Final Out Memo - 2022 Alley Reconstruction Project
	2. Performance Payment & Maintenance Bond
	3.Pay Est. 11 (Retainage) - Signed

	Item 23.	Low Bid- 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project
	1. Low Bid - 2023 Sidewalk Assessment
	2. Bid Tabulation

	Item 24.	BH Co Cooperative Agreement - West Viking Road Reconstruction Project
	1.  Black Hawk County Agreement - Viking Road ROW
	2. 20230808 W. VIKING RD RECONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT BOS SIGNED

	Item 25.	License Agreement - Unite Private Networks
	1.  Fiber Optic License Agreement Memo - UPN Technology
	2.License Agreement
	3. Exhibit A
	4.Exhibit B

	Item 26.	Set PH - Cedar Falls Partners, LLC
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 08-21-23
	2_Site Location Map
	3_Res Setting Date of Public Hearing - Cedar Falls Partners, LLC

	Item 27.	Ord-Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission
	1. Memo_CC.8.21.2023
	2. Ordinance - Bike Ped Commission
	3. Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission Bylaws

	Item 28.	Bills and Claims-8-21-23
	1 Daily Invoices 082123
	2 Council Invoices 082123

	Bottom

